
350 - 399

Constantius II Emperor 340-361 in association with Constans 340-350

350. Expositio Totius Mundi at Gentium.

Then there is another island which is called Britannia, indeed the greatest, as those who 

have been there tell, and outstanding among them all.

350 Sozomenus. Extracts from the Eclesiastical History

Four years after the council of Sardica, Constans was killed in Western Gaul. 

Magnentius, who had plotted his murder, reduced the entire government of Constans 

under his own sway. 

Liberius Pope 352-366 opposed by Felix II antipope 355-365

353 CRONICUM SCOTORUM  In this year Patrick was born.

353 Sozomenus. Extracts from the Eclesiastical History

In the meantime, Magnentius made himself master of ancient Rome, and put numbers 

of the senators, and of the people, to death. Hearing that the troops of Constantius were 

approaching, he retired into Gaul; and here the two parties had frequent encounters, in 

which sometimes the one and sometimes the other was victorious. At length, however, 

Magnentius was defeated, and fled to Mursa, which is the fortress of this Gaul, and when 

he saw that his soldiers were dispirited because they had been defeated, he stood on an 

elevated spot and endeavoured to revive their courage. But, although they addressed 

Magnentius with the acclamations usually paid to emperors, and were ready to shout at his 

public appearance, they secretly and without premeditation shouted for Constantius as 

emperor in place of Magnentius. Magnentius, concluding from this circumstance, that he 

was not destined by God to hold the reins of empire, endeavoured to retreat from the 

fortress to some distant place. But he was pursued by the troops of Constantius, and being 

overtaken at a spot called Mount Seleucus, he escaped alone from the encounter, and fled 

to Lugduna. On his arrival there, he slew his own mother and his brother, whom he had 

named Caesar; and lastly, he killed himself. Not long after, Decentius, another of his 

brothers, put an end to his own existence. Still the public tumults were not quelled; for not 



long after, Silvanus assumed the supreme authority in Gaul; but he was put to death 

immediately by the generals of Constantius.

356.  Annals of the Four Masters

After Muireadhach Tireach had been thirty years in the sovereignty of Ireland, he was 

slain by Caelbhadh, son of Crunn, King of Uladh, at Portrigh, over Dabhall.

357 .  After Caelbhadh, son of Crunn Badhrai, had been one year in the sovereignty of 

Ireland, he was slain by Eochaidh Muighmheadhoin.

Athanasius History of the Arians.Part IV.Second Arian Persecution under Constantius

But the inheritors of the opinions and impiety of Eusebius and his fellows, the eunuch 

Leontius, who ought not to remain in communion even as a layman, because he mutilated 

himself that he might henceforward be at liberty to sleep with one Eustolium, who is a wife 

as far as he is concerned, but is called a virgin; and George and Acacius, and Theodorus, 

and Narcissus, who are deposed by the Council; when they heard and saw these things, 

were greatly ashamed. And when they perceived the unanimity and peace that existed 

between Athanasius and the Bishops (they were more than four hundred, from great 

Rome, and all Italy, from Calabria, Apulia, Campania, Bruttia, Sicily, Sardinia, Corsica, and 

the whole of Africa; and those from Gaul, Britain, and Spain, with the great Confessor 

Hosius; and also those from Pannonia, Noricum, Siscia, Dalmatia, Dardania, Dacia, 

Moesia, Macedonia, Thessaly, and all Achaia, and from Crete, Cyprus, and Lycia, with 

most of those from Palestine, Isauria, Egypt, the Thebais, the whole of Libya, and 

Pentapolis); when I say they perceived these things, they were possessed with envy and 

fear; with envy, on account of the communion of so many together; and with fear, lest 

those who had been entrapped by them should be brought over by the unanimity of so 

great a number, and henceforth their heresy should be triumphantly exposed, and 

everywhere proscribed.

357 Ammianus Marcellinus 

 Julianus Caesar repairs the walls of the fortress on the Rhine which he had recovered. 

He crosses the Rhine, and after laying waste the hostile part of Alamannia compels five of 

their kings to sue for peace and return their prisoners. But being on the point of entering 

upon an urgent campaign, since he considered that some districts of the Alamanni were 

hostile and would venture on outrages unless they also were overthrown after the example 

of the rest, he was anxious and doubtful with what force and with what speed (as soon as 



prudence gave an opportunity) he might anticipate the news of his coming and invade their 

territories unexpected. And after thinking over many varied plans he at last decided to try 

the one which the outcome proved to be expedient. Without anyone's knowledge he had 

sent Hariobaudes, an unattached tribune of tried fidelity and courage, ostensibly as an 

envoy to Hortarius, a king already subdued, with the idea that he could easily go on from 

there to the frontiers of those against whom war was presently to be made, and find out 

what they were plotting; for he was thoroughly acquainted with the language of the 

savages. When the tribune had fearlessly set out to execute these orders, Julian, since the 

season of the year was favourable, called together his soldiers from all quarters for a 

campaign, and set forth; and he thought that above all things he ought betimes to attend to 

this, namely, before the heat of battle to enter the cities long since destroyed and 

abandoned, regain and fortify them, and even build granaries in place of those that had 

been burned, in which he could store the grain which was regularly brought over from 

Britain; and both things were accomplished sooner than anyone expected. For not only 

did the granaries quickly rise, but a sufficiency of food was stored in them; and the cities 

were seized, to the number of seven: Castra Herculis, Quadriburgium, Tricensima and 

Novesium, Bonna, Antennacum and Vingo, where by a happy stroke of fortune the prefect 

Florentius also appeared unexpectedly, leading a part of the forces and bringing a store of 

provisions sufficient to last a long time. 

358.  Annals of the Four Masters

The first year of Eochaidh Muighmheadhoin in sovereignty over Ireland.

359. Sulpicius Severus Chronicle.

At the council of Ariminium (Rimini) a city in Italy...3 bishops from Britain had to be 

helped with public funds.

360 ? Sozomenus. Extracts from the Eclesiastical History

 Constantius also suspected Julian of cherishing the love of empire, and therefore put 

him under the custody of guards.

Eusebia, the wife of Constantius, obtained for him permission to retire to Athens; and he 

accordingly settled there, under pretext of attending the pagan exercises and schools; but 

as rumour says, he communed with diviners concerning his future prospects..... 

The emperor, (Constantius) who was then in the West.....The emperor had determined 

to visit the East, and held on his way; he conferred the title of Caesar on his cousin Julian, 



and sent him to Western Gaul...

Constantius recalled him, and proclaimed him Caesar, promised him his sister 

Constantia in marriage, and sent him to Gaul; for the barbarians whose aid had been hired 

by Constantius previously against Magnentius, finding that their services were not 

required, had portioned out that country. As Julian was very young, generals, to whom the 

prudential affairs were turned over, were sent with him; but as these generals abandoned 

themselves to pleasure, he was present as Caesar, and provided for the war. He 

confirmed his soldiers in their spirit for battle, and urged them in other ways to incur 

danger; he also ordered that a fixed reward should be given to each one who should slay a 

barbarian. After he had thus secured the affections of the soldiery, he wrote to 

Constantius, acquainting him with the levity of the generals; and when another general had 

been sent, he attacked the barbarians, and obtained the victory. They sent embassies to 

beg for peace, and showed the letter in which Constantius had requested them to enter 

the Roman dominions. He purposely delayed to send the ambassador back; he attacked a 

number of the enemy unexpectedly and conquered them.

In the meantime Eusebius traversed the Eastern provinces, restored those who had 

declined from the faith, and taught them what it was necessary to believe. After passing 

through Illyria, he went to Italy, and there he met with Hilarius, bishop of Poictiers in 

Aquitania. Hilarius had returned from exile before Eusebius, and had taught the Italians 

and the Gauls what doctrines they had to receive, and what to reject; he expressed 

himself with great eloquence in the Latin tongue, and wrote many admirable works, it is 

said, in refutation of the Arian dogmas. Thus did Hilarius and Eusebius maintain the 

doctrines of the Nicaean council in the regions of the West.

Julian Emperor 361-363

Zosimus

Caesar, after he had thus settled affairs, added the Salii, the Quadi, and many of the 

inhabitants of Batavia to his legions, of whose discipline we still make use. Meanwhile the 

emperor Constantius was in the east, disposing of the Persian affairs, and intent only on 

the wars in those countries. All the nations beyond the Alps were in a state of tranquillity, 

from the prudent management of Caesar; nor were either Italy or Illyricum. in any danger, 

the Barbarians who dwelt beyond the Ister being fearful that Caesar would come through 

Gaul, and pass the Ister to attack them ; they therefore contained themselves within the 

bounds of moderation. Constantius being thus occupied, the Persians, under their king 



Saphor, at that time ravaged Mesopotamia; and having pillaged all the places about 

Nisibis, they besieged the city itself with their whole forces. Lucilianus, the commander, 

was so well provided for a siege, that partly by the happy occasions of which he availed 

himself, and partly by his own contrivances, the city escaped the dangers that threatened 

it. The manner in which this was effected, I have thought it superfluous to explain, since 

Julian himself has given a relation of all the transactions of those times in a particular 

treatise, in which the render may easily discern the eloquence and ability of its author. At 

this juncture, the affairs of the east appearing tranquil, and the splendid actions of Julian 

occupying the discourse of the public, the mind of Constantius became the seat of the 

most bitter envy. Being mortified at the prosperity that attended all that had been done in 

Celtica and Spain, he invented pretexts, by which |73 he might gradually, and without any 

dishonour, diminish the authority of Julian, and then deprive him of his dignity. For this 

purpose he sent a messenger to Caesar, requiring him to send two of the Celtic legions, 

as if he wanted their assistance. Julian, in obedience to his order, immediately sent them 

away, partly through ignorance of his design, and partly because he wished to avoid giving 

him the least cause of anger. After this he took every possible care of the affairs of Gaul, 

while the army daily increased, and the Barbarians, even in the most remote part of their 

country, were in such dread of him, that they did not even dream of making war. 

Constantius afterwards required more legions to be sent to him from Caesar, and having 

obtained the demand, sent for four other companies : according to which order Julian gave 

notice to the soldiers to prepare for marching. But while Julian was at Parisium, a small 

town in Germany, the soldiers, being ready to march, continued at supper till midnight in a 

place near the palace, which they so called there. They were as yet ignorant of any design 

against Caesar, when some tribunes, who began to suspect the contrivance against him, 

privately distributed a number of anonymous billets among the soldiers, in which they 

represented to them, that Caesar, by his judicious conduct had so managed affairs, that 

almost all of them had erected trophies over the Barbarians ; that he had always fought 

like a private soldier, and was now in extreme danger from the emperor, who would shortly 

deprive him of his whole army, unless they prevented it. Some of the soldiers having read 

these billets, and published the intrigue to the whole army, all were highly enraged. They 

suddenly rose from their seats in great commotion, and with the cups yet in their hands 

went to the palace. Breaking open the doors without ceremony, they brought out Caesar, 

and lifting him on a shield declared him emperor and Augustus. They then, without 

attending to his reluctance, placed a diadem upon his head. 



362 Ammianus Marcellinus  Book XX 

 Lupicinus, master of arms, is sent with an army to Britain, to resist the inroads of the 

Scots and Picts. 

Such was the course of events throughout Illyricum and the Orient. But in Britain in the 

tenth consulship of Constantius and the third of Julian raids of the savage tribes of the 

Scots and the Picts, who had broken the peace that had been agreed upon, were laying 

waste the regions near the frontiers, so that fear seized the provincials, wearied as they 

were by a mass of past calamities. And Julian, who was passing the winter in Paris and 

was distracted amid many cares, was afraid to go to the aid of those across the sea, as 

Constans once did (as I have told), for fear of leaving Gaul without a ruler at a time when 

the Alamanni were already roused to rage and war. Therefore he decided that Lupicinus, 

who was at that time commander-in-chief, should be sent to settle the troubles either by 

argument or by force; he was indeed a warlike man and skilled in military affairs, but one 

who raised his brows like horns and ranted in the tragic buskin (as the saying is), and 

about whom men were long in doubt whether he was more covetous or more cruel. 

Therefore, taking the light-armed auxiliaries, to wit the Aeruli, the Batavians, and two 

companies of Moesians, in the dead of winter the leader aforesaid came to Boulogne, and 

after procuring ships and embarking all his troops, he waited for a favourable breeze and 

then sailed to Richborough, which lay opposite, and went on to London, intending there to 

form his plans according to the situation of affairs and hasten quickly to take the field. 

At Paris, where he was wintering, Julianus Caesar is forcibly hailed as Augustus by the 

Gallic legions which Constantius had ordered to be taken from him and transferred to the 

Orient against the Persians. 

When Constantius was hastening to lend aid to the Orient, which was likely soon to be 

disturbed by the inroads of Persians, as deserters reported in agreement with our scouts, 

he was tormented by the valorous deeds of Julian, which increasingly frequent report was 

spreading abroad through the mouths of divers nations, carrying the great glory of his 

mighty toils and achievements after the overthrow of several kingdoms of the Alamanni, 

and the recovery of the Gallic towns, which before had been destroyed and plundered by 

the savages whom he himself had made tributaries and subjects. Excited by these and 

similar exploits, and fearing that their fame would grow greater, urged on besides, as was 

reported, by the prefect Florentius, he sent Decentius, the tribune and secretary, at once to 

take from Julian his auxiliaries, namely, the Aeruli and Batavi and the Celts with the 

Petulantes, as well as three hundred picked men from each of the other divisions of the 

army; and he ordered him to hasten their march under the pretext that they might be able 



to be on hand for an attack on the Parthians early in the spring.

And for speeding the departure of the auxiliaries and the divisions of three hundred 

Lupicinus alone was called upon (for that he had crossed over to Britain was not yet 

known at court); but the order to select the most active of the targeteers and the gentiles 

and personally lead them to the emperor was given to Sintula, then Julian's chief stable-

master. 

Julian kept silence and submitted to this, leaving everything to the will of his more 

powerful associate. One thing, however, he could neither overlook nor pass over in 

silence, namely, that those men should suffer no inconvenience who had left their abodes 

beyond the Rhine and come to him under promise that they should never be led to regions 

beyond the Alps; for he declared that it was to be feared that the barbarian volunteer 

soldiers, who were often accustomed to come over to our side under conditions of that 

kind, might on having knowledge of this thereafter be kept from so doing. But his words 

were to no purpose. For the tribune, considering Caesar's remonstrances of little moment, 

carried out the orders of Augustus, chose the strongest and most active of the light-armed 

troops, and made off with them, while they were filled with hope of better fortunes.

Accordingly, Leonas, having entered Paris, was received as an honoured and discreet 

person, and on the following day, when the prince had come to the field with a great 

number of soldiers and townsmen, whom he had purposely summoned, and was standing 

aloft on a tribunal in order to be more conspicuous from a high position, he ordered the 

letter to be handed to him. And after unrolling the scroll of the edict which had been sent, 

he began to read it from the beginning. And when he had come to the place where 

Constantius, rejecting all that had been done, declared that the power of a Caesar was 

enough for Julian, on all sides terrifying shouts arose: "Julianus Augustus," as was 

decreed by authority of the province, the soldiers, and the state — a state restored indeed, 

but still fearful of renewed raids of the savages. 

On hearing this, Leonas returned in safety, with a letter of Julian to the same purport, 

and Nebridius alone was admitted to the prefecture; for Caesar in his letter had openly 

said that such an appointment would be in accordance with his wishes. As to the master of 

offices, he had long before chosen for that office Anatolius, who previously had answered 

petitions, and some others, in accordance with what seemed to him expedient and safe. 

But while matters were thus proceeding, Lupicinus was to be feared, although he was 

absent and even then in Britain, for he was a man of haughty and arrogant spirit and it 

was suspected that if he should learn of these things while across the sea, he would stir up 

material for a revolution; accordingly, a secretary was sent to Boulogne, to watch carefully 



and prevent anyone from crossing the strait. Because of this prohibition Lupicinus returned 

before hearing of anything that had happened, and so could cause no disturbance. 

Julianus Caesar, having unexpectedly attacked the so-called Atthuarian Franks on the 

other side of the Rhine, and killed or captured the greater number of them, granted them 

peace at their request. 

Julian, however, being now happier in his lofty station and in the confidence which the 

soldiers felt in him, in order not to become lukewarm or be accused of negligence and 

sloth, after sending envoys to Constantius set out for the frontier of Second Germany, and, 

thoroughly equipped with all the material that the business in hand demanded, drew near 

to the city of Tricensima.Then crossing the Rhine, he suddenly invaded the territory of 

those Franks known as Atthuarii, a restless people, who even then were lawlessly 

overrunning the frontiers of Gaul. Having attacked them unexpectedly, when they feared 

no hostile demonstration and were quite off their guard, because they could remember no 

invasion of their land as yet by any emperor, protected as they were by rough and difficult 

roads, he defeated them with slight trouble; and after having captured or killed a great 

many, when the rest who survived begged for peace, he granted it on his own conditions, 

thinking this to be to the advantage of the neighbouring settlers. From there he returned 

with equal speed by way of the river, and carefully examining and strengthening the 

defences of the frontier, he came as far as Augst; and there having recovered the places 

which the savages had formerly taken and were holding as their own, he fortified them with 

special care and went by way of Besançon to Vienne, to pass the winter. 

Julianus Augustus at Vienne pretends to be a Christian, in order to win the favour of the 

populace; and on the day of a festival he prays to God in church among the Christians. 

Julianus Augustus vainly tries to restore the temple at Jerusalem, which had been 

destroyed long before. 

These were the events of that year, to pass over minor details. But Julian, who had 

already been consul three times, assumed the chief magistracy for the fourth time, taking 

as his colleague in the office Sallustius, prefect of Gaul.And for a private citizen to be 

associated with the reigning emperor seemed an innovation which no one recalled to have 

been made since Diocletian and Aristobulus.And although he weighed every possible 

variety of events with anxious thought, and pushed on with burning zeal at many 

preparations for his campaign, yet turning his activity to every part, and eager to extend 

the memory of his reign by great works, he planned at vast cost to restore the once 

splendid temple at Jerusalem, which after many mortal combats during the siege by 

Vespasian and later by Titus, had barely been stormed. He had entrusted the speedy 



performance of this work to Alypius of Antioch, who had once been vice-prefect of Britain. 

But, though this Alypius pushed the work on with vigour, aided by the governor of the 

province, terrifying balls of flame kept bursting forth near the foundations of the temple, 

and made the place inaccessible to the workmen, some of whom were burned to death; 

and since in this way the element persistently repelled them, the enterprise halted. 

Sulpicius Severus Military Service of St. Martin.

Martin, then, was born at Sabaria in Pannonia, but was brought up at Ticinum, which is 

situated in Italy. His parents were, according to the judgment of the world, of no mean 

rank, but were heathens. His father was at first simply a soldier, but afterwards a military 

tribune. He himself in his youth following military pursuits was enrolled in the imperial 

guard, first under king Constantine, and then under Julian Cæsar. This, however, was not 

done of his own free will, for, almost from his earliest years, the holy infancy of the 

illustrious boy aspired rather to the service of God. 

St Martin retires from Military Service.

IN the meantime, as the barbarians were rushing within the two divisions of Gaul, Julian 

Cæsar, bringing an army together at the city of the Vaugiones, began to distribute a 

donative to the soldiers. As was the custom in such a case, they were called forward, one 

by one, until it came to the turn of Martin. Then, indeed, judging it a suitable opportunity for 

seeking his discharge--for he did not think it would be proper for him, if he were not to 

continue in the service, to receive a donative--he said to Cæsar, "Hitherto I have served 

you as a soldier: allow me now to become a soldier to God: let the man who is to serve 

thee receive thy donative: I am the soldier of Christ: it is not lawful for me to fight." Then 

truly the tyrant stormed on hearing such words, declaring that, from fear of the battle, 

which was to take place on the morrow, and not from any religious feeling, Martin withdrew 

from the service. But Martin, full of courage, yea all the more resolute from the danger that 

had been set before him, exclaims, "If this conduct of mine is ascribed to cowardice, and 

not to faith, I will take my stand unarmed before the line of battle tomorrow, and in the 

name of the Lord Jesus, protected by the sign of the cross, and not by shield or helmet, I 

will safely penetrate the ranks of the enemy." He is ordered, therefore, to be thrust back 

into prison, determined on proving his words true by exposing himself unarmed to the 

barbarians. But, on the following day, the enemy sent ambassadors to treat about peace 

and surrendered both themselves and all their possessions. In these circumstances who 

can doubt that this victory was due to the saintly man? It was granted him that he should 

not be sent unarmed to the fight. And although the good Lord could have preserved his 



own soldier, even amid the swords and darts of the enemy, yet that his blessed eyes might 

not be pained by witnessing the death of others, he removed all necessity for fighting. For 

Christ did not require to secure any other victory in behalf of his own soldier, than that, the 

enemy being subdued without bloodshed, no one should suffer death.

Flavius Claudius Julianus, known also as Julian or Julian the Apostate

Julianus Epistolae 7

To Alypius: It happened that I had already recovered from my illness when you sent the 

geography; no the less I was glad to receive the map sent by you. For not only does it 

include drawings better than hitherto, but you have embellished it by adding iambic verses 

not, like the poet of Cyrene, to sing the war of Bupalus, but such as fair Sappho liked to 

fashion for her thoughts

Flavius Claudius Julianus, known also as Julian or Julian the Apostate

Extract from a play Julianus wrote for the Saturnalia in December 361 AD. In it Julius 

Caesar says -

“And since I have mentioned the Celts, shall we compare the exploits of Alexander 

against the Getae with my conquest of Gaul? He crossed the Danube once, I crossed the 

Rhine twice. The German conquest again is all my doing. No one opposed Alexander,  but 

I had to contend against Ariovistus. I was the first Roman who ventured to sail the outer 

sea. Perhaps this achievement was not so wonderful, though it was a daring deed that 

may well command your admiration; but a more glorious action of mine was when I leapt 

ashore from my ship before all the others. Of the Helvetians and Iberians I say nothing. 

And still I have said not a word about my campaigns in Gaul, when I conquered more than 

three hundred cities and no less than two million men! But great as were these 

achievements of mine, that which followed was still greater and more daring For I had to 

contend against my fellow citizens themselves, and to subdue the invincible, the 

unconquerable Romans.” 

Jovian Emperor 363-364

363 Sozomenus. Extracts from the Eclesiastical History 

After Jovian had reigned about eight months, he died suddenly at Dadastana, a town of 

Bithynia, while on his road to Constantinople. Some say that his death was occasioned by 

eating too plentiful a supper; others attribute it to the dampness of the chamber in which 



he slept; for it had been recently plastered with unslaked lime, and quantities of coals had 

been burnt in it during the winter for a preventive; the walls had become damp and were 

exceedingly moist.

On the arrival of the troops at Nicaea in Bithynia, they proclaimed Valentinian emperor. 

He was a good man and capable of holding the reins of the empire. He had not long 

returned from banishment; for it is said that Julian, immediately on his accession to the 

empire, erased the name of Valentinian from the Jovian legions, as they were called, and 

condemned him to perpetual banishment, under the pretext that he had failed in his duty of 

leading out the soldiers under his command against the enemy. The true reason of his 

condemnation, however, was the following: When Julian was in Gaul, he went one day to 

a temple to offer incense. Valentinian accompanied him, according to an ancient Roman 

law, which still prevails, and which enacted that the leader of the Jovians and the 

Herculeans (that is to say, the legions of soldiers who have received this appellation in 

honour of Jupiter and of Hercules) should always attend the emperor as his body-guard. 

When they were about to enter the temple, the priest, in accordance with the pagan 

custom, sprinkled water upon them with the branch of a tree. A drop fell upon the robe of 

Valentinian; he scarcely could restrain himself, for he was a Christian, and he rebuked his 

asperser; it is even said that he cut off, in view of the emperor, the portion of the garment 

on which the water had fallen, and flung it from him. From that moment Julian entertained 

inimical feelings against him, and soon after banished him to Melitine in Armenia, under 

the plea of misconduct in military affairs; for he would not have religion regarded as the 

cause of the decree, lest Valentinian should be accounted a martyr or a confessor. Julian 

treated other Christians, as we have already stated, in the same manner; for, as was said 

before, he perceived that to subject them to hazards only added to their reputation, and 

tended to the consolidation of their religion. As soon as Jovian succeeded to the throne, 

Valentinian was recalled from banishment to Nicaea; but the death of the emperor in the 

meantime took place, and Valentinian, by the unanimous consent of the troops and those 

who held the chief positions in the government, was appointed his successor. 

Valentinian I Emperor 364-375 with Valens & Gratian after 367

After 364 Zosimus  Affairs being thus disposed, Valentinian deemed it most prudent to 

place the east as far as Egypt, Bithynia, and Thrace, under the care of his brother, and to 

take charge of Illyricum himself. From thence he designed to proceed to Italy, and to retain 

in his own possession all the cities in that country, and the countries beyond the Alps, with 



Spain, Britain, and Africa. The empire being thus divided, Valentinian began to govern 

more rigorously, correcting the faults of the magistrates. He was very severe in the 

collection of the imposts, and particularly in observing that the soldiers were duly paid.

365 While such was the posture of affairs in that part of the empire which was attached 

to Valens, the emperor Valentinian, who resided beyond the Alps, was attacked by a great 

and unexpected danger. The Germans, recollecting their sufferings under the 

administration of Julian, as soon as they heard of his death, shook off all fear, and 

resuming their natural audacity, invaded the nations subject to the Roman empire. Being 

met by the emperor, a severe battle ensued, in which the Barbarians were victorious. The 

Roman army dishonourably fled. Valentinian, however, resolved not to save himself by 

flight; he therefore bore the event of the battle with apparent composure, until he had 

discovered those, who by their first beginning to fly had caused the disaster. Having at 

length by strict inquiry ascertained that the Batavian legion was guilty, he ordered the 

whole army to assemble in complete martial habiliments, as if to hear an oration for their 

information in some important affair. He then addressed them, reflecting the strongest 

ignominy on those who commenced the flight, and commanded the Batavians to be 

stripped of their arms, and to be sold to a colony as fugitive slaves. Upon this they all 

prostrated themselves on the ground, and intreated him not to inflict so disgraceful a 

punishment on his soldiers, promising in future to behave like men and worthy of the 

Roman name. He complied with their intreaties, requiring them to prove by their actions 

the sincerity of their intention. They then rose from the ground, armed themselves, and 

renewed the combat with such alacrity and resolution, that of an immense number of 

Barbarians very few returned to their own country. Thus terminated the war with the 

Germans. 

Ammianus Marcellinus Valentinian's parentage and his deeds as a ruler. 

It is now in place to go back and (as we have often done) in a brief epilogue run through 

the deeds of this emperor, from the very birth of his father to his own decease, without 

omitting to distinguish his faults or his good qualities, brought to light as they were by 

greatness of power, which is always wont to lay bare a man's inmost character. 

His father, the elder Gratianus, was born at Cibalae, a town of Pannonia, of a humble 

family, and from his early boyhood was surnamed Funarius, because when he was not yet 

grown up and was carrying around a rope for sale, and five soldiers tried with all their 

might to tear it from him, he gave way not an inch; he thus rivalled Milo of Croton, from 

whom no possible exercise of strength could ever take an apple, when he held it tightly in 



his left or his right hand, as he often did. Hence, because of his mighty strength of body 

and his skill in wrestling in the soldiers' fashion he became widely known, and after holding 

position of one of the bodyguard and of a tribune, he commanded the army in Africa with 

the title of count. There he incurred the suspicion of theft, but he departed long afterwards 

and commanded the army in Britain with the same rank; and at last, after being honourably 

discharged, he returned to his home. While he was living there far from the noise and 

bustle, his property was confiscated by Constantius, on the ground that when civil discord 

was raging he was said to have shown hospitality to Magnentius when the usurper was 

hastening through Gratianus's land to carry out his designs. 

Because of his father's services Valentinian was favoured from early youth, and being 

commended also by the addition of his own merits, he was clad in the insignia of imperial 

majesty at Nicaea. He took as his imperial colleague his brother Valens, to whom he was 

greatly attached both by the tie of fraternity and by sympathy, a man with an equal amount 

of excellent and bad qualities, as we shall point out in the proper place. Valentinian, then, 

after suffering many annoyances and dangers while he was a private citizen, had no 

sooner begun to reign than he went to Gaul, to ho had already broken out into formidable 

madness and were always rushing wherever they pleased without reconnaissances, had 

then invaded the maritime districts, and had almost returned enriched with the spoils which 

they took; but by a device which was treacherous but expedient he overwhelmed and 

stripped of their booty the robbers thus forcibly crushed. fortify the strongholds and cities 

lying near the rivers; for these were exposed to the raids of the Alamanni, who were 

raising their heads higher after learning of the death of the emperor Julian, who was 

absolutely the only one whom they feared after the death of Constans. But Valentinian 

also was rightly dreaded by them, both because he increased the armies with a strong 

reinforcement and because he so fortified both banks of the Rhine with lofty castles and 

strongholds, that nowhere should an enemy be able to hurl himself at our territories 

unobserved.

And to pass over many things which he did with the authority of an established ruler, 

and the reforms that he effected either personally or through energetic generals, after 

admitting his son Gratianus to a share in his power, he secretly, since he could not do so 

openly, caused Vithicabius, king of the Alamanni, son of Vadomarius, a young man in the 

first bloom of manhood, to be stabbed, because he was rousing his people to rebellion and 

war. And joining battle with the Alamanni near a place called Solicinium,(367 AD)where, 

after falling into an ambuscade and all but losing his life, he could have utterly destroyed 

the entire army, had not swift flight saved a few of them under cover of darkness. 



366 Zosimus  After the death of Procopius, the emperor Valens sacrificed to his 

resentment the lives of many persons, and confiscated the property of many others. His 

intended expedition into Persia was obstructed by the incursions into the Roman territories 

of a Scythian tribe residing beyond the Ister. Against these he directed a competent force, 

arresting their progress and compelling them to surrender their arms. He sent them to 

several of his towns on the Ister, with orders for them to be kept in prison without chains. 

Claudian, Panegyric on the Fourth Consulship of the Emperor Honorius (in 398) Refers  

to actions of Honorius grandfather Theodosius Flavius around 367

Not unworthy of reverence nor but newly acquainted with war is the family of Trajan and 

that Spanish house which has showered diadems upon the world. No common stream was 

held worthy to water the homeland of so illustrious a race; Ocean laved their cradle, for it 

befitted the future lords of earth and sea to have their origin in the great father of all things. 

Hence came Theodosius, grandfather of Honorius, for whom, exultant after his northern 

victories, Africa twined fresh laurels won from the Massylae. 'Twas he who pitched his 

camp amid the snows of Caledonia, who never doffed his helmet for all the heat of a 

Libyan summer, who struck terror with the Moors, brought into subjection the coasts of 

Britain and with equal success laid waste the north and the south. What avail against him 

the eternal snows, the frozen air, the uncharted sea? The Orcades ran red with Saxon 

slaughter; Thule was warm with the blood of Picts; ice-bound Hibernia wept for the heaps 

of slain Scots. Could heat stay the advance of a courageous general? No; he overran the 

deserts of Ethiopia, invested Atlas with troops strange to him, drank of lake Triton where 

was born the virgin goddess Minerva, beheld the Gorgon's empoisoned lair, and laughed 

to see the common verdure of those gardens of the Hesperides which story had clothed 

with gold. Juba's fortress was burned down, the frenzied valour of the Moor yielded to the 

sword and the palace of ancient Bocchus was razed to the ground. 

But thy father's fame far surpassed that of thy grandsire: he subdued Ocean to his 

governance and set the sky for border to his kingdom, ruling from Gades to the Tigris, and 

all that lies 'twixt Tanais and Nile; yet all these lands won by countless triumphs of his own, 

he gained them not by gift  of birth or from lust of power. It was his own merit secured his 

election. Unsought the purple begged his acceptance of itself; he alone when asked to rule 

was worthy to do so. For when unrest at home drove barbarian hordes over unhappy 

Rhodope the now deserted north had poured its tribes in wild confusion across our 

borders, when all the banks of Danube poured forth battles and broad Mysia rang beneath 



the chariots of the Getae, when flaxen-haired hordes covered the plains of Thrace and 

amid this universal ruin all was either prostrate or tottering to its fall, one man alone 

withstood the tide of disaster, quenched the flames, restored to the husbandmen their 

fields and snatched the cities from the very jaws of destruction. No shadow of Rome's 

name had survived had not thy sire borne up the tottering mass, succoured the storm-

tossed bark and with sure hand averted universal shipwreck. As when the maddened 

coursers broke from their path and carried Phaëthon far astray, when day's heat grew 

fierce and the sun's rays, brought near to earth, dried up both land and sea, Phoebus 

checked his fierce horses with his wonted voice; for they knew once more their master's 

tones, and with a happier guide heaven's harmonious order was restored; for now the 

chariot again accepted government and its fires control. 

Thus was the East entrusted to him and thus was its salvation assured; but the other 

half of the world was not so entrusted: twice was the West gained by valour, twice won by 

dangers. In those lands of the sunset by manifold crime there arose to power tyrants twain: 

wild Britain produced one (Maximus), the other (Eugenius) was chosen as a tool by a 

Frankish outlaw (Arbogast). Both dared monstrous guilt; both stained their hands with an 

innocent emperor's blood. Sudden elevation inspired Maximus with audacity, his failure 

taught his successor caution. Maximus was quick to arm rebellion, Eugenius careful to 

attempt only what was safe. The one overran the country, spreading his forces in all 

directions, the other kept his troops together and himself secure behind a rampart. 

Different were they, but in their deaths alike. To neither was it granted to escape an 

ignominious end and to fall in the thick of night. Gone was their glory, their weapons were 

reft from them and they were reduced to their former state; their arms were bound behind 

their backs and they stretched forth their necks to the sword's imminent stroke, begging for 

pardon and for life. What a fall did pride there suffer! They who but lately had moved such 

countless cohorts with but a nod, into whose palm a wavering world had hung ready to 

drop, fall not as warriors at a victor's hand but as malefactors before a judge; he sentences 

with his voice as criminals those whom he assailed in war as tyrants. With both perished 

their lieutenants: Andragathius hurled himself from his ship into the waves, Arbogast took 

his life with his own sword; the Alps mark the tomb of the one, the sea of the other. This 

solace at least the avenger afforded to those murdered brothers that both the authors of 

their deaths themselves were slain; two victims went to appease those royal ghosts. Such 

was Theodosius' oblation at their tomb and with the blood of the guilty he appeased the 

shades of the two young emperors. 

As a sailor skilled in wielding the oar is at first set in charge of but a side of the vessel, 



then, when he can manage the lofty prow and is able, thanks to his long experience of the 

sea, to know beforehand what storms and tempests the vessel is like to encounter, he has 

charge of the helm and is entrusted with the direction of the entire ship; so when thou 

hadst long given illustrious proofs of thy character, the empire of Rome summoned thee to 

govern not a part but the whole of itself, and set thee as ruler over all the rulers of the 

world. The seas of Spain, the German ocean obeyed thee and Britain, so far removed 

from our continent. Rivers of all lands observed thy statutes, slow-flowing Saône, swift 

Rhone, and Ebro rich in gold. How often did the Rhine, in those districts where the 

barbarians dwell, lament that the blessings of thy rule extended not to both banks! All the 

lands the setting sun bathes in its rays, all that its last brilliance illumines are entrusted to 

the charge of one man. 

Soon when thou couldst stand upright and walk with firm step thy sire forbade thee 

enervating sloth, luxurious ease, time-wasting slumbers. He strengthened thy young limbs 

with hard toils and rude was the training wherewith he exercised thy tender powers. Thou 

wert taught to bear winter's cruel cold, to shrink not before storm and tempest, to face the 

heat of summer, to swim across loud-roaring torrents, to p275climb mountains, to run o'er 

the plain, to leap ravines and hollows, to spend sleepless nights of watching under arms, 

to drink melted snow from thy casque, to shoot the arrow from the bow or hurl the acorn-

missiles with a Balearic sling. And the more to inflame thy heart with love of battle he 

would recount to thee the deeds of thy grandsire, object of dread to Libya's sun-scorched 

shores and Thule whither no ship can sail. He conquered the fleet Moors and the well-

named Picts; his roaming sword pursued the flying Scot; his adventurous oars broke the 

surface of the northern seas. Crowned with the spoils of triumphs won beneath the 

northern and the southern sky he trod the wave-swept strand of either Ocean. Thus did he 

spur thy courage, thus sow the seeds of fame; these were the examples he gave. Not 

more avidly did Achilles himself drink in the Centaur's precepts when he learnt of him how 

to wield the spear or play the lyre or discern healing plants. 

367 Zosimus

While Valens was engaged in these preparations, the emperor Valentinian, having 

favourably disposed the affairs of Germany, made provisions for the future security of the 

Celtic nations. With |100 this view he levied among the Barbarians near the Rhine and the 

husbandmen in the countries under the Roman dominion a considerable number of young 

men. These he incorporated with the legionary soldiers, and brought to so good a state of 

discipline, that from the sole dread of their military skill, during the period of nine years, the 



nations beyond the Rhine did not dare to make any attempt upon any of the cities 

belonging to the Romans. About this time, a person named Valentinian for some offence 

was banished to the island of Britain, and endeavouring there to render himself absolute, 

was at once deprived of his life and his hopes. The emperor Valentinian was now attacked 

by a disease which nearly cost him his life. Upon his recovery the countries requested him 

to appoint a successor, lest at his decease the commonwealth should be in danger. To this 

the emperor consented, and declared his son Gratian emperor and his associate in the 

government, although he was then very young, and not yet capable of the management of 

affairs. 

367 Ammianus Marcellinus 

While he was accomplishing these exploits with due caution, the Saxons, who had 

already broken out into formidable madness and were always rushing wherever they 

pleased without reconnaissances, had then invaded the maritime districts, and had almost 

returned enriched with the spoils which they took; but by a device which was treacherous 

but expedient he overwhelmed and stripped of their booty the robbers thus forcibly 

crushed. fortify the strongholds and cities lying near the rivers; for these were exposed to 

the raids of the Alamanni, who were raising their heads higher after learning of the death 

of the emperor Julian, who was absolutely the only one whom they feared after the death 

of Constans. But Valentinian also was rightly dreaded by them, both because he increased 

the armies with a strong reinforcement and because he so fortified both banks of the Rhine 

with lofty castles and strongholds, that nowhere should an enemy be able to hurl himself at 

our territories unobserved.

Again, when the Britons could not resist the hordes of enemies that were overrunning 

their country, he restored them to freedom and quiet peace with the hope of better 

conditions, and allowed almost none of the plunderers to return to his home.

At this time, as if trumpets were sounding the war-note throughout the whole Roman 

world, the most savage peoples roused themselves and poured across the nearest 

frontiers. At the same time the Alamanni were devastating Gaul and Raetia, the Sarmatae 

and Quadi Pannonia, while the Picts, Saxons, Scots and Attacotti were harassing the 

Britons with constant disasters. The Austoriani and other Moorish tribes raided Africa 

more fiercely than ever and predatory bands of Goths were plundering Thrace and 

Pannonia. The king of the Persians was laying hands on Armenia, hastening with mighty 

efforts to bring that country again under his sway, under the false pretext that after the 

death of Jovian, with whom he had concluded a treaty of peace, nothing ought to prevent 



his recovery of what he claimed had formerly belonged to his forefathers. 

364 CRONICUM SCOTORUM 

Muiredhach Tirech slain by Caelbadh, son of Crund, King of Uladh, at Port Riogh, over 

the Dabhall.

364 Eochaidh Muighmedhoin, son of Muiredhach Tirech, reigned eight years.

Patrick is carried a captive into Hibernia.

Liber Hymnorum.  

As to Patrick, his origin was of the Britons of Her-cluaide; Calpurn was his fathers name, 

Fotaid his grandfathers, who was a deacon. Conchess further, was his mother; Lupait and 

Tigris were his two sisters. Now Patrick had four nomina, viz. Succat, his name with his 

parents; Cothraige, his name when he was in service to four persons; Magonius, his name 

from Germanus Celestine.  Patricius, from Pope Celestine. But as to the cause of Patrick s 

coming into Ireland, it happened in this wise, viz., seven sons of Sechtmaide, a king of the 

Britons, were in exile, and they plundered Armorica of Letha. There chanced upon them at 

that time in Armorica a body of Britons of Her- cluaide: here Calpurn mac Fotaid, Patrick's 

father, was slain, and Patrick and his two sisters were there taken prisoners afterwards. 

The sons of Sechtmaide then went over sea to Ireland, where Lupait was subsequently 

sold, viz, in Conalle Muirthemne; Patrick was sold in Dal Araide to Miliuc mac Ua Buain, 

and to his three brothers; and they sold his two sisters in Conalle Muirthemne, but they 

knew not each others lot. Well, four persons, one of them being Miliuc, bought Patrick, and 

hence he got the name Cothraige, from the circumstance that he was servant to a 

household of four. But when Miliuc saw that he was a faithful slave, he bought him from 

the other three, so that he served only Miliuc, for seven years after the fashion of the 

Hebrews; and he suffered great tribulation in the wilds of Slemish in Dal Araide, while 

herding Miliucs swine. 

It chanced now that Miliuc saw a vision of the night, viz, he thought he saw Cothraige 

coming to him into the house where he was, having a flame of fire over his head and out of 

his nostrils and ears; and it seemed to him that the fire played threateningly over him to 

burn him, but he drove it from him and it did him no harm; but his son and his daughter 

who were in the same bed with him, these the fire burnt to ashes, and the wind scattered 

those ashes all over the and. Thereupon Cothraige was summoned before Miliuc, who told 

him his vision; and Cothraige gave judgement on it as follows: The fire thou sawest in me 

is the faith of the Trinity which glows in me; it is that faith I shall preach to thee in after 



time, and thou wilt not believe; but thy son and thy daughter will believe, and the fire of 

grace will burn in them. 

St Basil of Caesarea.  The Hexaemeron Homily IV.

To say that the waters were gathered in one place indicates that previously they were 

scattered in many places. The mountains, intersected by deep ravines, accumulated water 

in their valleys, when from every direction the waters betook themselves to the one 

gathering place. What vast plains, in their extent resembling wide seas, what valleys, what 

cavities hollowed in many different ways, at that time full of water, must have been 

emptied by the command of God! But we must not therefore say, that if the water covered 

the face of the earth, all the basins which have since received the sea were originally full. 

Where can the gathering of the waters have come from if the basins were already full? 

These basins, we reply, were only prepared at the moment when the water had to unite in 

a single mass. At that time the sea which is beyond Gadeira and the vast ocean, so 

dreaded by navigators, which surrounds the isle of Britain and western Spain, did not 

exist. But, all of a sudden, God created this vast space, and the mass of waters flowed in.

365.  Annals of the Four Masters  

The eighth year of Eochaidh Muighmheadhoin, son of Muireadhach Tireach, over 

Ireland, when he died at Teamhair.

365 Sozomenus. Extracts from the Eclesiastical History

The Sarmatians having invaded the western parts of the empire, Valentinian levied an 

army to oppose them. As soon, however, as they heard of the number and strength of the 

troops raised against them, they sent an embassy to solicit peace. When the ambassadors 

were ushered into the presence of Valentinian, he asked them whether all the Sarmatians 

were similar to them. On their replying that the principal men of the nation had been 

selected to form the embassy, the emperor exclaimed, in great fury, "A terrible thing do our 

subjects endure, and a calamity is surrounding the Roman government, if the Sarmatians, 

a barbarous race, of whom these are your best men, do not love to abide by themselves, 

but are emboldened to invade my government, and presume to make war at all against the 

Romans." He spoke in this strain for some time in a very high pitch of voice, and his rage 

was so violent and so unbounded, that at length he burst simultaneously a blood-vessel 

and an artery. He lost, in consequence, a great quantity of blood, and expired soon after in 

a fortress of Gaul. He was about fifty-four years of age, and had, during thirteen years, 



guided the reins of government with good results and much distinction. Six days after his 

death his youngest son, who bore the same name as himself, was proclaimed emperor by 

the soldiers; and soon afterwards Valens and Gratian, his brother, formally assented to 

this election, although they were at first irritated at the soldiers having transferred the 

symbols of government to him without their previous consent.

366 About this period Liberius died, and Damasus succeeded to the see of Rome. A 

deacon named Ursicius, who had obtained some votes in his favor, but could not endure 

the defeat, therefore caused himself to be clandestinely ordained by some bishops of little 

note, and endeavored to create a division among the people and to hold a separate 

church. He succeeded in effecting this division, and some of the people respected him as 

bishop, while the rest adhered to Damasus. This gave rise to much contention and revolt 

among the people, which at length proceeded to the evil of wounds and murder. The 

prefect of Rome was obliged to interfere, and to punish many of the people and of the 

clergy; and he put an end to the attempt of Ursicius.

With respect to doctrine, however, no dissension arose either at Rome or in any other of 

the Western churches. The people unanimously adhered to the form of belief established 

at Nicaea, and regarded the three persons of the Trinity as equal in dignity and in power.

Auxentius and his followers differed from the others in opinion; he was then president of 

the church in Milan, and, in conjunction with a few partisans, was intent upon the 

introduction of innovations, and the maintenance of the Arian dogma of the dissimilarity of 

the Son and of the Holy Ghost, according to the inquiry which had last sprung up, in 

opposition to the unanimous agreement of the Western priests. The bishops of Gaul and 

of Venetia having reported that similar attempts to disturb the peace of the Church were 

being made by others among them, the bishops of several provinces assembled not long 

after at Rome, and decreed that Auxentius and those who held his sentiments should be 

aliens from their communion. 

366.  Annals of the Four Masters

The first year of Crimhthann, son of Fidhach, son of Daire Cearb, over Ireland.

St Damasus 1 Pope 366-383 opposed by Ursicinus antipope 366-367

367 LIBER BRITANNICUS.  

But Gratian, with his brother Valentinian, reigned conjointly six years. It was in his time 

lived the noble prelate in Milan, a teacher of Catholicity, viz. Ambrose.



Valentinian and Theothas Theodosius were in joint sovereignty eight years. It was in 

their time was assembled the synod in Constantinople of three hundred and fifty clerks, to 

banish the heresy of Macedon, viz., the denying the Holy Ghost. And it was in their time 

the noble priest Cirine Hieronymus flourished at Bethlehem Judah, the catholic interpreter.

The same Gratian, as we have said, and Valentinian, reigned until Maximen Maximus 

was made king by the soldiers in the island of Britain, and went across the sea to France; 

and the king, Gratian, was set at liberty by the treacherous counsel of the master of the 

soldiers, 

Parassis Merobladis; and the king fled to Lugdon, and was taken there and put to death.

Maximen and his son Victor reigned jointly. Martin was at Torinis at that time. But 

Maximen was stripped of his royal robes by the consuls, i. e. by Valentinen and Theothas, 

at the third stone from the city Eigilia Aquileia, and his head was cut off in that place. His 

son Victor also fell in France by the hand of the count whose name was Arguba; from the 

creation of the world are 5690 years, to this event, according to all the chronicles.

Ab incarnatione ccclxvi. Gradianus was the fortieth king from Juil. It was in his time that 

a certain Maxim took the sovereignty of Britain.

OF THE MIRACLES OF CAIRNECH HERE.

SARRAN assumed the sovereignty of Britain after this, and established his power over 

the Saxons and Cruithnians. And he took to wife the daughter of the king of Alban, viz., 

Babona, daughter of Loarn, son of Erc. And it was not she that was married to him, but her 

sister, viz., Erc, daughter of Loarn, until she eloped with Muiredhach, son of Eoghan, son 

of Niall, to Eri, and she bore him four sons, viz. Muircheartach Mac Erca, and Fearadhach, 

and Tighearnach, and Maian.

And Sarran had issue by Babona; and there were begotten by them five sons, viz., 

Luirig, and Cairnech, and Bishop Dallain, and Caemlach; and he i.e. Sarran died after 

victory and after triumph in the house of Martin.

Luirig then succeeded to the throne, and he extended his power over the Saxons, and 

he forcibly built a fort within the precincts of the monastery of Cairnech his brother. 

Muircheartach Mac Erca happened to be at that time with the king of Britain, learning 

military science, after he was expelled from Ireland for having killed the Crossans, and 

after having been subsequently expelled from Alba, for having killed his grandfather, 

Loarn, king of Alba. It happened that he was at that time getting his arms consecrated by 

Cairnech, the son of his mother's sister; then Cairnech said to him, ‘Thou shalt be king of 

Eri and of Britain for ever, and shalt go to heaven after, provided thou canst but prevent 

Luirig from exercising his power against the Church.’ Then Mac Erca went to the king, and 



after he came he told his message, viz.: ‘Build not thy city’ (said he) ‘in the precincts of 

Cairnech the bishop.’ ‘As God is my judge,’ says Luirig, ‘I think more of the power of the 

pet wild fawn he has, than of his own power, or of the power of the Lord God whom he 

adores.’ Mac Erca returned to Cairnech, and told him the result. Great wrath suddenly 

seized Cairnech, et dixit, ‘My prayer to my Lord, to my God, is, that that very fawn may be 

the cause of his death, and by thy hand, O Mac Erca!’ Cairnech then commanded Mac 

Erca to go forth and destroy his brother, and he Mac Erca immediately took upon himself 

to fight him; and he went forth at the command of Cairnech to destroy the king. And God 

worked a great miracle there for Cairnech, viz. he sent a wild fawn out of the mountain into 

the king's assembly, and the host all went in pursuit of it except the king himself and his 

women. Et dixit Mac Erca, ‘If you had been just, my Lord, towards your cleric, it is certain 

that it would give increased happiness to have the royal robe on Luirig.’ Then Mac Erca 

thrust his battle staff into the king's side, so that it was balanced: and he returned to his 

cleric, and the head of the king with him, as a token; et dixit, ‘Lo, here is thy brother's head 

for thee, O Cairnech.’ Et dixit Cairnech, ‘Leave me the bone, and eat thou the marrow, and 

every third coarb shall be thine for ever, here and in Eri.’Then he (Mac Erca) took the 

hostages and the power of the district into his own hands, conjointly with Cairnech, for 

seven years, as also the supreme sovereignty of Britain, and Cat, and Orc, and 

Saxonland. And Mac Erca then committed an additional sin, that is, he took to himself the 

wife of Luirig, after many battles and conflicts with the king of France, to take his daughter 

from him, until at last the daughter fell into Mac Erca's hands, and she bare him four sons, 

viz. Constantine, and Gaedhal-Ficht (from whom descend the kings of Britain, and the 

kings of Britain-Cornn); Nellenn (a quo gens Nellan), and Scannal, the other son, a quo 

gens Scannail; i. e. it is in Eri the descendants of the two last are. 

Now a great synod of the clergy of Europe was made at Tours of Martin, viz., three 

hundred and thirty-seven bishops, with the coarb of Peter, to meet Cairnech, Bishop of 

Tours and Britain-Cornn, and of all the British, to cast out every heresy, and to reduce 

every country to the discipline of the Church. And the chieftainship of the martyrs of the 

world was given to Cairnech, because martyrdom was his own choice. And Cairnech 

found thrice fifty bishops who made it also their choice to accompany Cairnech in 

pilgrimage, and that number went to Lien in pilgrimage for the sake of Mac Erca and 

Muiredhach.

Cairnech then set out to the Britons of Cornn or Carnticeon, and a city was built by him 

under ground, in order that he might not see the earth, nor the country, nor the sky; and he 

increased the strength and sovereignty of Mac Erca for a year, and he (i.e. Cairnech) 



came to Eri before him, so that he was the first bishop of the Clann-Niall and of Temhar 

(Tara), and he was the first martyr and the first monk of Eri, and the first Brehon of the 

men of Eri also.

Now, after this the Franks and the Saxons made war against Mac Erca, and he 

destroyed their country and their cities after a long contest; and the country and the power 

of the territories adjacent to him were also destroyed by the greatness of his power and of 

his strength; and after this he came with a large fleet to take the sovereignty of Eri. He 

landed at Fan-na-long on the Boyne, where he burned his ships, from which circumstance 

comes the name of Fan-na-long; and he killed the provincial kings of Ireland afterwards, 

and took their sovereignty by right for ever, for himself and for his descendants. And then 

the power and strength of Britain was destroyed after him.

367  Sozomenus. Extracts from the Eclesiastical History 

On reflecting that, while it was indispensably requisite to check the incursions of the 

barbarians of the Ister in Illyria and Thrace, his presence was equally necessary in Gaul to 

repel the inroads of the Alemanni, Gratian associated Theodosius with himself at Sirmich, 

in the government of the empire. Theodosius belonged to an illustrious family of the 

Pyrenees in Iberia, and had acquired so much renown in war, that before he was raised to 

the imperial power, he was universally considered capable of guiding the reins of the 

empire.

367..Ammianus Marcellinus ......................................................

That some princes commit these and similar arbitrary acts with lofty arrogance is 

because they do not allow their friends the opportunity of dissuading them from unjust 

designs or deeds, and that because of their great power they make their enemies afraid to 

speak. No correction is possible of the perverse actions of those who believe that what 

they desire to do must be the highest virtue.

When the Picts, Attacotti, and Scots, after killing a general and a count, were 

devastating Britain without resistance, Count Theodosius routed them and took their 

booty from them. 

Having set out then from Amiens and hastening to Treves, Valentinian was alarmed by 

serious news which showed that Britain was brought into a state of extreme need by a 

conspiracy of the savages, that Nectaridus, the commanding general of the seacoast 

region, had been killed, and that another general, Fullofaudes, had been ambushed by 

the enemy and taken prisoner. This report aroused great horror, and the emperor sent 



Severus, who at that time was still commander of the household troops, to set right the 

disasters, if chance should offer the desired opportunity. But he was recalled a little later, 

and Jovinus having set out for the same regions, allowed them to return at quick step, 

intending to seek the support of a strong army; for he declared that this was demanded by 

the pressing necessities of the situation. Finally, because of the many alarming things 

which constant rumours reported about that same island, Theodosius, a man most 

favourably known for his services in war, was chosen to be sent there with all speed, and 

having enrolled legions and cohorts of courageous young men, he hastened to depart, 

preceded by brilliant expectations. 

And, since in giving an account of the history of the emperor Constans Idescribed the 

ebb and flow of the ocean and the situation of Britain, as well as my powers permitted, I 

have thought it superfluous to unfold again what has once been set forth, just as Homer's 

Ulysses among the Phaeacians shrinks from repeating the details of his adventures 

because of the excessive difficulty of the task. 

It will, however, be in place to say, that at that time the Picts, divided into two tribes, 

called Dicalydones and Verturiones, as well as the Attacotti, a warlike race of men, and the 

Scots, were ranging widely and causing great devastation; while the Gallic regions, 

wherever anyone could break in by land or by sea, were harassed by the Franks and their 

neighbours, the Saxons, with cruel robbery, fire, and the murder of all who were taken 

prisoners. 

In order to prevent these outrages, if favourable fortune gave an opportunity, that most 

energetic leader hastened to the world's end, and reached the coast of Bononia, which 

from the spacious lands opposite is separated only by a narrow space of sea wont in turn 

to swell with dreadful surges, and again, without any danger for sailors, to sink to the form 

of a level plain. From there he quietly crossed the strait and landed at Rutupiae, a quiet 

haven on the opposite coast. When the Batavi, Heruli, Jovii, and Victores, who followed 

him, had arrived, troops confident in their strength, he began his march and came to the 

old town of Lundinium, which later times called Augusta. There he divided his troops into 

many parts and attacked the predatory bands of the enemy, which were ranging about and 

were laden with heavy packs; quickly routing those who were driving along prisoners and 

cattle, he wrested from them the booty which the wretched tribute-paying people had lost. 

And when all this had been restored to them, except for a small part which was allotted to 

the wearied soldiers, he entered the city, which had previously been plunged into the 

greatest difficulties, but had been restored more quickly than rescue could have been 

expected, rejoicing and as if celebrating an ovation. 



While he lingered there, encouraged by the successful outcome to dare greater deeds, 

he carefully considered what plans would be safe; and he was in doubt about his future 

course, since he learned from the confessions of the captives and the reports of deserters 

that the widely scattered enemy, a mob of various natives and frightfully savage, could be 

overcome only by secret craft and unforeseen attacks. Finally, he issued proclamations, 

and under promise of pardon summoned the deserters to return to service, as well as 

many others who were wandering about in various places on furlough. In consequence of 

this demand and strongly moved by his offer, most returned, and Theodosius, relieved of 

his anxious cares, asked that Civilis be sent to him to govern Britain as deputy-prefect, a 

man of somewhat fiery temper, but steadfast in justice and uprightness, and also Dulcitius, 

a general distinguished for his knowledge of the art of war. 

GILDAS

 The Britons, impatient at the assaults of the Scots and Picts, their hostilities and 

dreadful oppressions, send ambassadors to Rome with letters, entreating in piteous terms 

the assistance of an armed band to protect them, and offering loyal and ready

submission to the authority of Rome, if they only would expel their foes.  A legion is 

immediately sent, forgetting their past rebellion, and provided sufficiently with arms.  When 

they had crossed over the sea and landed, they came at once to close conflict with their 

cruel enemies, and slew great numbers of them.  All of them were driven beyond the 

borders, and the humiliated natives rescued from the bloody slavery which awaited them. 

By the advice of their protectors, they now built a wall across the island from one sea to 

the other, which being manned with a  proper force, might be a terror to the foes whom it 

was intended to repel, and a protection to their friends whom it covered.  But this wall, 

being made of turf instead of stone, was of no use to that foolish people, who had no head 

to guide them.

367? St Jerome

Why should I speak of other nations when I myself as a young man in Gaul saw the 

Atticoti, a British people, feeding on human flesh? Moreover, when they come across 

herds of pigs and cattle in the forests, they frequently cut off the buttocks of the shepherds 

and their wives, and their nipples, regarding these alone as delicacies. The nation of the 

Scoto do not have individual wives, but as if they had read Plato's Republic or followed the 

example of Cato, no wife belongs to a particular man, but as each desires, they indulge 

themselves like beasts.



368 ....Ammianus Marcellinus ..................................................

Theodosius restores the cities of Britain which had been devastated by the savages, 

repairs the fortresses, and recovers for the island the province which was called Valentia. 

But Theodosius, that leader of celebrated name, filled with courageous vigour sallied 

forth from Augusta, which was earlier called Lundinium, with a force which he had 

mustered with energy and skill, and rendered the greatest aid to the troubled and confused 

fortunes of the Britons. He secured beforehand everywhere the places suitable for 

ambushing the savages, requiring nothing of the common soldiers in which he himself did 

not smartly take the first tasks. 2In this way, while he performed the duties of an active 

common soldier and observed the care of a distinguished general, after having routed and 

put to flight tribes which an insolence fostered by impunity was inflaming with a desire to 

attack the Romans, he completely restored the cities and strongholds which had been 

founded to secure a long period of peace, but had suffered repeated misfortunes. 

But while he was thus engaged, a dread event had taken place, which would have 

resulted in grave danger, if it had not been crushed in the very beginning of its attempt. A 

certain Valentinus, born in Valeria, a part of Pannonia, a man of haughty spirit, brother-in-

law of that pernicious vice-governor Maximinus, who was afterwards prefect, had been 

exiled to Britain because of a serious crime. There, impatient of quiet like a noxious beast, 

he roused himself to new and destructive plans, nursing a certain grudge against 

Theodosius, since he perceived that he was the only one who could resist his abominable 

designs. However, after a good deal of looking about secretly and openly, driven by the 

swelling gale of his vast ambition, he began to tempt exiles and soldiers by promising for 

bold deeds as enticing rewards as his circumstances at the time permitted. And already 

the time for carrying out the plans was near at hand, when that leader, eager for deeds of 

daring, learning of this from a prearranged source, resolved with lofty heart to punish those 

who were found guilty: Valentinus indeed, along with a few of his closest associates, he 

had consigned to the general Dulcitius, to be punished with death; but with the military 

knowledge in which he surpassed all his contemporaries, he divined future dangers, and 

as to the rest of the conspirators forbade the carrying on of investigations, lest by 

spreading fear among many the disturbances in the provinces, which had just been lulled 

to sleep, should be revived. 

Then, after the danger had been wholly removed, since it was common knowledge that 

propitious fortune had failed him in none of his undertakings, he turned his attention to 

making many necessary improvements, restoring the cities and defences, as we have 



said, and protecting the frontiers by sentinels and outposts. And so completely did he 

recover a province which had passed into the enemy's hands and restore it to its former 

condition, that, in the words of his report, it had a legitimate governor; and it was 

henceforth called Valentia, in accordance with the emperor's wish, who, one might almost 

say, celebrated an ovation in his joy on hearing the priceless news. 

The Saxons in Gaul, after a truce had been made, were ambushed by the Romans. 

Valentinian, under promise of joining forces with them, roused the Burgundians to invade 

Alamannia, but they, after being betrayed and deceived, killed all their prisoners and 

returned home. 

369 CRONICUM SCOTORUM Patrick was released from captivity by an angel.

SBG St Corbre. "S. Corbre's Church in Anglesey," by which is intended the church of 

Hen Eglwys, " the Old Church." In one of the " Verses of the Graves, in The Black Book of 

Carmarthen is"-

The grave of Ceri Gleddyfhir (the Long-sworded) is in the confine of Hen Eglwys, 

On the gravelly cliff ; Tarw Torment (the Bull of Conflict) in the cemetery of Corbre

.Corbre is, no doubt, the original patron of Hen Eglwys. n the Extent of 1352 the villa 

liber a of Hen Eglwys is given as held of SS. Faustinus and Bacellinus, by whom must be 

meant " Y Saint Llwy- dion." Of Bacellinus nothing seems to be known, nor anything 

definitely of Faustinus ; but it is curious to note that Faustinus and Aftfrcellinus, Roman 

priests, are coupled together as two Luciferians that were exiled in 369, in the time of Pope 

Damasus. 

370 Ammianus Marcellinus 

In the third consulship of the two Augusti a horde of Saxons broke out, and after 

overcoming the dangers of the Ocean advanced at rapid pace towards the Roman frontier, 

having often been glutted with the slaughter of our people. The storm of this first inroad 

was met by Nannenus, the general in charge of those regions, a leader approved by long 

experience in wars. But meeting then with a people resolved  to fight to the death, after he 

had lost some of his men and had himself been wounded, he perceived that he would be 

unequal to frequent contests with them. Accordingly, having reported to the emperor what 

ought to be done, he managed that Severus, commander of the infantry, should come to 

help him in his difficult situation. When he, bringing forces adequate for the purpose, had 

reached the spot and the troops had been drawn up in divisions, he so terrified and 



confused the arrogant barbarians before the struggle began, that they did not oppose him 

in strife, but, dazzled by the gleam of the standards and eagles, begged for pardon and 

peace. And after a long and varied discussion, since it seemed to be in the interest of the 

state, a truce was agreed upon, and in accordance with the conditions that were proposed 

the Saxons gave us as hostages many young men fit for military service, and then were 

allowed to depart and return without hindrance to the place from which they had come. 

When they thought themselves now free from all fear and were preparing to return, foot-

soldiers were secretly sent and laid an ambuscade in a secluded valley, from which they 

could attack the Saxons with slight trouble as they passed by. But the result was far 

otherwise than was hoped. For, excited by the sound of the approaching Saxons, some of 

our men rushed out before the proper time; on their sudden appearance the savages 

raised terrible howls, and while the Romans were hastening to steady themselves, they 

were put to flight. Presently, however, they halted and massed themselves together, and 

as their dangerous plight gave them strength (though somewhat impaired), they were 

forced to fight; but after suffering great losses they were routed and would have perished 

to a man, had not a troop of mail-clad horsemen, which had been similarly stationed on 

another side, near a byway, to cause danger to the savages as they passed by, been 

aroused by their cries of terror, and quickly come to their aid. Then the contest became 

hotter and Romans with fortified courage pressed upon the Saxons from all sides, 

surrounded them, and slew them with their drawn swords; not one of them could again 

return to his native home, not a single one was allowed to survive the slaughter of his 

comrades. And although some just judge will condemn this act as treacherous and hateful, 

yet on careful consideration of the matter he will not think it improper that a destructive 

band of brigands was destroyed when the opportunity was at last offered. 

SBG St  Selyf or Salomon. was the son of Geraint ab Erbin, Prince of Devon. Selyf is, 

moreover, named as the father of S. Cybi, and he is spoken of as ruling between the 

Tamar and Lynher, that is to say, in the old principality of Gelliwig, in Cornwall.  Selyf 's 

wife was Gwen, or S. Wenn, the daughter of Cynyr of Caergaw.ch, and sister of S. Non.  

Salomon was of holy life.  he translated relics of S. Matthew  from Cairo to Brittany. 

Salomon, the King, had then to wife the daughter of Flavius, a patrician ; and he entered 

into alliance with Valentinian, the Emperor of the West. 

When the vessel on which was the body of the Evangelist arrived off the port of 

Kaynnen, Salomon went to the spot and desired to have the relics removed ; but the body 

proved too heavy to be transported. Then Riuvallus, Duke of Cornouaille, declared that 



obviously the saint was offended at the custom prevalent in Armorica of parents selling 

their children into slavery, and being required to do so, to pay the customary tax into the 

royal treasury. Riuvallus exhorted 'Salomon to put an end to this barbarous custom. Then 

Salomon placed his hand on the relics of the Evangelist and swore to do so in this fashion, 

that the children who were to be sold, should instead pass into the service of the Church of 

S. Matthew. Then only did the body become light enough to be transported on shore, and 

laid where afterwards arose the stately Abbey of S. Mathieu. 

Salomon reigned for a good many years, but finally an insurrection broke out, and he 

was killed by his revolted subjects whilst praying in a church. The patrician Flavius 

complained to the Emperor Valentinian, who sent an army to chastise the rebels. Such is 

the story, manifestly fabulous, and as certainly not written by Paulilianus in the tenth 

century. 

371 CRONICUM SCOTORUM Eochaidh Muighmedhoin died. Criomthand, son of 

Fiodhach, reigned five years in Hibernia.

Emperors Valens & Gratian & Valentinian II 375-378

365 378 Ammianus Marcellinus 

Therefore Valens also deserved excuse for taking every precaution to protect his life, 

which treacherous foes were trying in haste to take from him. But it was inexcusable that, 

with despotic anger, he was swift to assail with malicious persecution guilty and innocent 

under one and the same law, making no distinction in their deserts; so that while there was 

still doubt about the crime, the emperor had made up his mind about the penalty, and 

some learned that they had been condemned to death before knowing that they were 

under suspicion......

(Many were accused and punished)

Lo! even Alypius also, former vice-governor of Britain,a man amiable and gentle, after 

living in leisure and retirement — since even as far as this had injustice stretched her hand 

— was made to wallow in utmost wretchedness; he was accused with his son Hierocles, a 

young man of good character, as guilty of magic, on the sole evidence of a certain 

Diogenes, a man of low origin, who was tortured with every degree of butchery, to lead 

him to give testimony agreeable to the emperor, or rather to the instigator of the charge. 

Diogenes, when not enough of his body was left for torture, was burned alive; Alypius 

himself also, after confiscation of his goods, was condemned to exile, but recovered his 



son, who was already being led to a wretched death,but by a lucky chance was reprieved. 

374 ..Ammianus Marcellinus .These, then, are undeniable indications of Valentinian's 

character and his blood-thirsty tendency. But, on the other hand, no one, not even one of 

his persistent detractors, will reproach him with lack of ingenuity in behalf of the state, 

especially if one bears in mind that it was a more valuable service to check the barbarians 

by frontier defences than to defeat them in battle. And when he had given if any of the 

enemy made a move, he was seen from above from the watch-towers, and overcome. 

But among many other cares, his first and principal aim was to capture alive by violence 

or by craft King Macrianus, just as, long before, Julian took Vadomarius; for Macrianus, 

amid the frequent changes in the policy followed towards him, had increased in power, and 

now was rising against our countrymen with full-grown strength. Accordingly, having first 

provided what the circumstances and the time demanded, and having learned from the 

reports of deserters where the said king, who expected no hostile move, could be seized, 

Valentinian threw a pontoon across the Rhine as quietly as his means allowed, lest 

anyone should interfere with the bridge while it was being put together. And first Severus, 

who commanded the infantry forces, took the lead by marching against Mattiacae Aquae; 

but alarmed when he considered the small number of his soldiers, he halted, fearing that 

he might be unable to resist the onrushing hordes of the enemy, and so might be 

overcome by them. There he chanced to find some of the traders loading slaves intended 

for sale, and because he suspected that they would quickly run off and report what they 

had seen, he took their wares from them and killed them all. Then the generals, 

encouraged by the arrival of additional troops, encamped, with a view to a very short stay, 

since no one had a pack-animal or a tent, except the emperor, for whom a rug and a rough 

blanket sufficed for such a shelter. Then, after delaying for a time on account of the 

darkness of night, as soon as the morning-star uprose, since the campaign called for 

haste, they advanced farther, led by guides who knew the roads; and a large force of 

cavalry was ordered to precede them under command of Theodosius, that nothing might 

be unobserved was lying at the time; but he was prevented by the continuous noise made 

by his men; for although he constantly commanded them to abstain from plundering and 

setting fires, he could not make them obey. For the crackling flames and the dissonant 

shouts awakened the king's attendants, and suspecting what had happened, they placed 

him in a swift wagon and hid him in a narrow pass of the precipitous hills. Valentinian was 

robbed of this glory, not by his own fault or that of his generals, but by the indiscipline of 

the soldiers, which has often caused the Roman state heavy losses; so, after reducing the 

enemy's territory to ashes for fifty miles, he returned sadly to Treves. 7 There, as a lion, 



because he has lost a deer or a goat, gnashes his empty jaws, just when the forces of the 

enemy were broken and scattered by fear, in place of Macrianus he made Fraomarius king 

of the Bucinobantes, a tribe of the Alamanni dwelling opposite Mainz. And soon 

afterwards, since a recent invasion had utterly devastated that canton, he transferred him 

to Britain with the rank of tribune, and gave him command of a troop of the Alamanni 

which at that time was distinguished for its numbers and its strength. Bitheridus, indeed, 

and Hortarius (chiefs of the same nation) he appointed to commands in the army; but of 

these Hortarius was betrayed by a report of Florentius, commander in Germany, of having 

written certain things to the detriment of the state to Macrianus and the chiefs of the 

barbarians, and after the truth was wrung from him by torture he suffered the penalty of 

death by burning. 

375 Zosimus

Valentinian being dead, the tribunes Merobaudes and Equitius, reflecting on the 

distance at which Valens and Gratian resided, the former being in the east, and the latter 

left by his father in the western part of Gaul, were apprehensive lest the Barbarians 

beyond the Ister should make an effort while the country was without a ruler. They 

therefore sent for the younger son of Valentinian, who was born of his wife the widow of 

Magnentius, who was not far from thence with the child. Having clothed him in purple, they 

brought him into the court, though scarcely five years old. The empire was afterwards 

divided between Gratian and the younger Valentinian, at the discretion of their guardians, 

they not being of age to manage their own affairs. The Celtic nations, Spain, and Britain 

were given to Gratian; and Italy, Illyricum, and Africa to Valentinian. Meantime the emperor 

Valens was inundated with wars on every side. The first of these was with the Isaurians, 

who are by some called Pisidae, by others Solymi, and by others Cilices Montani, or 

Mountain Cilicians. They pillaged the towns of Lycia and Pamphylia, and though they 

could not obtain possession of the walls and houses, yet carried off all that was in the 

roads and fields. The emperor, who still remained at Antioch, sent a force sufficient to 

oppose them. The Isaurians then fled with their plunder to the clefts of |104the mountains, 

to which the soldiers were either prevented by indolence from pursuing them, or from 

some cause unable to redress the evils which the towns had suffered. 

376 CRONICUM SCOTORUM  Criomthand, son of Fiodhach, died.

Patrick went to Germanus.



BEDE

CHAP. IX. How during the reign of Gratian, Maximus, being created Emperor in Britain, 

returned into Gaul with a mighty army. [377 ]

In the year of our Lord 377, Gratian, the fortieth from Augustus, held the empire for six 

years after the death of Valens; though he had long before reigned with his uncle Valens, 

and his brother Valentinian. Finding the condition of the commonwealth much impaired, 

and almost gone to ruin, and impelled by the necessity of restoring it, he invested the 

Spaniard, Theodosius, with the purple at Sirmium, and made him emperor of Thrace and 

the Eastern provinces. At that time, Maximus, a man of energy and probity, and worthy of 

the title of Augustus, if he had not broken his oath of allegiance, was made emperor by the 

army somewhat against his will, passed over into Gaul, and there by treachery slew the 

Emperor Gratian, who in consternation at his sudden invasion, was attempting to escape 

into Italy. His brother, the Emperor Valentinian, expelled from Italy, fled into the East, 

where he was entertained by Theodosius with fatherly affection, and soon restored to the 

empire, for Maximus the tyrant, being shut up in Aquileia, was there taken by them and put 

to death.

Theodosius I (The Great) Emperor 378-395 in association with Gratian & 

Valentinian II & Arcadius & Honorius.

378.   Annals of the Four Masters After Crimhthann, son of Fidhach, had been thirteen 

years as king over Ireland, he died of a poisonous drink which his own sister gave him.

 379.  The first year of Niall of the Nine Hostages, son of Eochaidh Muighmheadhoin, in 

the sovereignty of Ireland.

379 ANGLO-SAXON CHRONICLE.  This year Gratian succeeded to the empire.

Jordanes

Now in the place of Valens, his uncle, the  Emperor Gratian established Theodosius the 

Spaniard in the Eastern Empire. Military discipline was soon restored

to a high level, and the Goth, perceiving that the cowardice and sloth of former princes 

was ended, became afraid. For the Emperor was famed alike for his acuteness and 

discretion. By stern commands and by generosity and kindness he encouraged a 

demoralized army to deeds of daring. But when the soldiers, who had obtained  a better 

leader by the change, gained new confidence, they sought to attack the Goths and drive 



them from the borders of Thrace. But as the Emperor Theodosius fell so sick at this time 

that his life was almost despaired of, the Goths were again inspired with courage. Dividing 

the Gothic army, Fritigern set out to plunder Thessaly, Epirus and Achaia, while Alatheus 

and Safrac with the rest of the troops made for Pannonia. Now the   Emperor Gratian had 

at this time retreated from Rome to Gaul because of the invasions of the Vandals. When 

he learned that the Goths were acting with greater boldness because Theodosius was in 

despair of his life, he quickly gathered an army and came against them. Yet he put no trust 

in arms, but sought to conquer them by kindness and gifts. So he entered on a truce with 

them and made peace, giving them provisions.

XXVIII When the Emperor Theodosius afterwards  recovered and learned that the 

Emperor Gratian had made a compact between the Goths and the Romans, as he had 

himself desired, he took it very graciously and gave his assent. He gave gifts to King 

Athanaric, who had succeeded Fritigern, made an alliance with him and in the most 

gracious manner invited him to visit him in Constantinople. Athanaric very gladly 

consented and  as he entered the royal city exclaimed in wonder "Lo, now I see what I 

have often heard of with unbelieving ears," meaning the great and famous city. Turning his 

eyes hither and thither, he marvelled as he beheld the situation of the city, the coming and 

going of the ships, the splendid walls, and the people of divers nations gathered like a 

flood of waters streaming from different regions into one basin. So too, when he saw the 

army in array, he said "Truly the Emperor is a god on earth, and whoso raises a hand 

against him is guilty of his own blood." In the midst of his admiration and the enjoyment  of 

even greater honors at the hand of the emperor, he departed this life after the space of a 

few months. The emperor had such affection for him that he honored Athanaric even more 

when he was dead than during his

life-time, for he not only gave him a worthy burial, but himself walked before the bier at 

the funeral. Now when  Athanaric was dead, his whole army continued in the

service of the Emperor Theodosius and submitted to the Roman rule, forming as it were 

one body with the imperial soldiery. The former service of the Allies under the Emperor 

Constantine was now renewed and they were again called Allies. And since the Emperor 

knew that they were faithful to him and his friends, he took from their number more than 

twenty thousand warriors to serve against the tyrant Eugenius who had slain Gratian and 

seized Gaul. After winning the victory over this usurper, he wreaked his vengeance upon 

him.

Ausonius was an estate owner living in France near Bordeaux. He wrote this epigram 



sometime before his death in 395AD. (Ed, I guess it makes sense to French philosophers)

EPIGRAMS ON VARIOUS MATTERS 

That Silvius Good who attacks our verses has the more deserved a couplet, being a 

good Briton

This is Silvius  Good " Who is Silvius ?  He 

is a Briton. Either this Silvius is no Briton, or he 

is Silvius Bad. 

Silvius is called Good and called a Briton : who 

would believe a good citizen had sunk so low 

No good man is a Briton. If he should begin to 

be plain Silvius, let the plain man cease to be good. 

This is Silvius Good, but the same Silvius is a Briton: 

a plainer thing — believe me — is a bad Briton. 

Thou Silvius art Good, a Briton : yet 'tis said thou 

art no good man, nor can a Briton link himself with Good. 

380 Sulpicius Severus Chronicle

At the Synod of Caesar-Augusta (Saragossa)....

Instantius who,as we have said above, was condemned by the bishops, was deported 

to the island of Sylinancis, which is situated beyond the Britanniae. Proceedings were 

then taken against the rest, with the following sentences; Asarivus and Ayrelius the 

deacon were condemned to death. Tiberianus was deprived of his property and sent to the 

island of Sylinancis

381 ANGLO-SAXON CHRONICLE.  This year Maximus the Caesar came to the 

empire. He was born in the land of Britain, whence he passed over into Gaul. He there 

slew the Emperor Gratian; and drove his brother, whose name was Valentinian, from his 

country (Italy). The same Valentinian afterwards collected an army, and slew Maximus; 

whereby he gained the empire. About this time arose the error of Pelagius over the world.

LIBER BRITANNICUS.

Ab incarnatione Domini ccccxciv. Arcatus was sovereign of the world son of Toetas 

Theodosius, the forty-third king after Augustus. Pilacius Pelagius a Briton, adopted heresy, 

and destroyed the Christians



383-4 Chronica Gallia a CCCCLII

 Gratian, 3rd year:  Maximus was made a tyrant by his troops in Britain. 

Gratian, 4th year: Maximus the tyrant achieved an admirable victory over the invading 

Picts and Scots.

383 LIBER BRITANNICUS.  

Maxim was the sixth emperor that took Britain. It was at that time that the consulship 

was begun among the Romans, and no king was called Caesar from thenceforth. It was in 

the time of Maxim that the noble venerable prelate St. Martin flourished; he was of Gaul of 

Ulexis.

Maximian took the kingdom of Britain, and he led the armies of Britain against the 

Romans, so that Gratian, the emperor, fell by him, and he himself took the empire of 

Europe; and he did not suffer the armies he had brought with him to go back to their wives 

and their children, nor to their lands, but gave them many lands, from the place where 

there is the lake on the top of Mount Jove, to Canacuic on the south, and westward to the 

Mound Ochiden, a place where there is a celebrated cross, and these are the Britons of 

Letha, and they remained in the south ever since, and it was for this reason that foreign 

tribes occupied the lands of the Britons, and that the Britons were slaughtered on the 

borders of their land.

SBG St Cynan (Conan) Meriadog.  Conan Meriadoc and the flower of the youths of 

Britain were granted the territory of Armorica by Maximus in reward for their services 

rendered to him. Conan maintained himself as duke of Armorica, made his submission to 

Valentinian II. In 409, Conan  expelled the magistrates, and governed Armorica as 

sovereign till about 421, when he died. 

He conquered Angers, Rennes and Nantes, and slew all the natives who were still 

pagans. As to the women, after having cut out their 'tongues so as to incapacitate them for 

altering the British language, the comrades of Conan employed them in marriage and for 

such services as they might require of them. 

" Then, in divers places they built churches in which to sing the praises of God ; they 

divided the land into pious and trefs, and thence- forth by the grace of God the country 

was called Little Britain. And thus the Armorican Britons and the insular Britons, having the 

same laws, living as brethren, were for long subject to the same authority, as if they 

inhabited the same region."

 " Cynan ab Eudaf, of the family of Bran Fendigaid, was bishop in London in the time of 



Maxen Wledig"  He is the Conanus who is given as the fifth " Archbishop " of London. 

NENNIUS

 Maximianus was the sixth emperor that ruled in Britain. It was in his time that consuls 

began, and that the appellation of Caesar was discontinued: at this period also, St. Martin 

became celebrated for his virtues and miracles, and held a conversation with him.The 

seventh emperor was Maximus. He withdrew from Britain with all his military force, slew 

Gratian, the king of the Romans, and obtained the sovereignty of all Europe. Unwilling to 

send back his warlike companions to their wives, children, and possessions in Britain, he 

conferred upon them numerous districts from the lake on the summit of Mons Jovis, to the 

city called Cant Guic, and to the western Tumulus, that is, to Cruc Occident.* These are 

the Armoric Britons, and they remain there to the present day. In consequence of their 

absence, Britain being overcome by foreign nations, the lawful heirs were cast out, till God 

interposed with his assistance. We are informed by the tradition of our ancestors that 

seven emperors went into Britain, though the Romans affirm there were nine.Thus, 

aggreeably to the account given by the Britons, the Romans governed them four hundred 

and nine years.

After this, the Britons despised the authority of the Romans, equally refusing to pay 

them tribute, or to receive their kings; nor durst the Romans any longer attempt the 

government of a country, the natives of which massacred their deputies. We must now 

return to the tyrant Maximus. Gratian, with his brother Valentinian, reigned seven years. 

Ambrose, bishop of Milan, was then eminent for his skill in the dogmata of the Catholics. 

Valentinianus and Theodosius reigned eight years. At that time a synod was held at 

Constantinople, attended by three hundred and fifty of the fathers, and in which all 

heresies were condemned. Jerome, the presbyter of Bethlehem, was then universally 

celebrated. Whilst Gratian exercised supreme dominion over the world, Maximus, in a 

sedition of the soldiers, was saluted emperor in Britain, and soon after crossed the sea to 

Gaul. At Paris, by the treachery of Mellobaudes, his master of the horse, Gratian was 

defeated and fleeing to Lyons, was taken and put to death; Maximus afterwards 

associated his son victor in the government. Martin, distinguished for his great virtues, was 

at this period bishop of Tours. After a considerable space of time, Maximus was divested 

of royal power by the consuls Valentinianus and Theodosius, and sentenced to be 

beheaded at the third mile-stone from Aquileia: in the same year also his son Victor was 

killed in Gaul by Arbogastes, five thousand six hundred and ninety years from the creation 

of the world.



Thrice were the Roman deputies put to death by the Britons, and yet these, when 

harassed by the incursions of the barbarous nations, viz. Of the Scots and Picts, earnestly 

solicited the aid of the Romans. To give effect to their entreaties, ambassadors were sent, 

who made their entrance with impressions of deep sorrow, having their heads covered 

with dust, and carrying rich presents, to expiate the murder of the deputies. They were 

favourably received by the consuls, and swore submission to the Roman yoke, with 

whatever severity it might be imposed.

The Romans, therefore, came with a powerful army to the assistance of the Britons; and 

having appointed over them a ruler, and settled the government, returned to Rome: and 

this took place alternately during the space of three hundred and forty-eight years. The 

Britons, however, from the oppression of the empire, again massacred The Roman 

deputies, and again petitioned for succour. Once more the Romans undertook the 

government of the Britons, and assisted them in repelling their neighbours; and, after 

having exhausted the country of its gold, silver, brass, honey, and costly vestments, and 

having besides received rich gifts, they returned in great triumph to Rome.After the above-

said war between the Britons and Romans, the assassination of their rulers, and the 

victory of Maximus, who slew Gratian, and the termination of the Roman power in Britain, 

they were in alarm forty years.

383 Sozomenus. Extracts from the Eclesiastical History

As the Emperor Gratian was at this period occupied with a war against the Alamanni, 

Maximus quitted Britain, with the design of usurping the imperial power. Valentinian was 

then residing in Italy, but as he was a minor, the affairs of state were transacted by 

Probus, a praetorian prefect, who had formerly been consul.

Justina, the mother of the emperor, having espoused the Arian heresy, persecuted 

Ambrose, bishop of Milan, .....

While the mother of the emperor was planning the means of carrying this cruel law into 

execution, intelligence was brought of the murder of Gratian, through the treachery of 

Andragathius, the general of Maximus. Andragathius obtained possession of the imperial 

chariot, and sent word to the emperor that his consort was traveling towards his camp. 

Gratian, who was but recently married and youthful, as well as passionately attached to his 

wife, hastened incautiously across the river, and in his anxiety to meet her fell without 

forethought into the hands of Andragathius; he was seized, and, in a little while, put to 

death. He was in the twenty-fourth year of his age, and had reigned fifteen years. This 

calamity quieted Justina's wrath against Ambrose.



Maximus, in the meantime, raised a large army of Britons, neighboring Gauls, Celts, 

and other nations, and marched into Italy. The pretext which he advanced for this measure 

was, that he desired to prevent the introduction of innovations in the ancient form of 

religion and of ecclesiastical order; but he was in reality actuated by the desire of dispelling 

any suspicion that might have been excited as to his aspirations after tyranny. He was 

watching and intriguing for the imperial rule in such a way that it might appear as if he had 

acquired the Roman government by law, and not by force. Valentinian was compelled by 

the exigencies of the times to recognize the symbols of his rule; but soon after, in fear of 

suffering, fled with his mother Justina, and Probus, the praetorian prefect in Italy, to 

Thessalonica.

383 King Alfred Book VI chapter XXXV

In those days Bryttannie chose Maximianus for their Caesar against his will, who was 

worthy of the whole Roman empire with his manifold virtues, except that he was at 

variance with his Lord by the seduction of other men. This emperor soon marched into 

Gaul where he slew Gratian, and drove Valentinians brother out of Italy, so that he fled for 

protection to Theodosius.

 383 Zosimus

While the affairs of Thrace were, thus situated, those of Gratian were in great perplexity. 

Having accepted the counsel of those courtiers who usually corrupt the manners of 

princes, he gave a reception to some fugitives called Alani, whom he not only introduced 

into his army, but honoured with valuable presents, and confided to them his most 

important secrets, esteeming his own soldiers of little value. This produced among his 

soldiers a violent hatred against him, which being gradually inflamed and augmented 

incited in them a disposition for innovation, and most particulary in that part of them which 

was in Britain, since they were the most resolute and vindictive. In this spirit they were 

encouraged by Maximus, a Spaniard, who had been the fellow-soldier of Theodosius in 

Britain. He was offended that Theodosius should be thought worthy of being made 

emperor, while he himself had no honourable employment. He therefore cherished the 

animosity of the soldiers towards the emperor. They were thus easily induced to revolt and 

to declare Maximus emperor. Having presented to him the purple robe and the diadem, 

they sailed to the mouth of the Rhine. As the German army, and all who were in that 

quarter approved of the election, Gratian prepared to contend against Maximus, with a 

considerable part of the army which still adhered to him. When the armies met, there were 



only slight skirmishes for five days; until Gratian, |115perceiving that the383 Zosimus

 Mauritanian cavalry first deserted from him and declared Maximus Augustus, and 

afterwards that the remainder of his troops by degrees espoused the cause of his 

antagonist, relinquished all hope, and fled with three hundred horse to the Alps. Finding 

those regions without defence, he proceeded towards Rhaetia, Noricum, Pannonia, and 

the Upper Moesia. When Maximus was informed of his route, he was not negligent of the 

opportunity, but detached Andragathius, commander of the cavalry, who was his faithful 

adherent, in pursuit of Gratian. This officer followed him with so great speed, that he 

overtook him when he was passing the bridge at Sigidunus, and put him to death. By 

which exploit he confirmed the authority of Maximus.  Mauritanian cavalry first deserted 

from him and declared Maximus Augustus, and afterwards that the remainder of his troops 

by degrees espoused the cause of his antagonist, relinquished all hope, and fled with 

three hundred horse to the Alps. Finding those regions without defence, he proceeded 

towards Rhaetia, Noricum, Pannonia, and the Upper Moesia. When Maximus was 

informed of his route, he was not negligent of the opportunity, but detached Andragathius, 

commander of the cavalry, who was his faithful adherent, in pursuit of Gratian. This officer 

followed him with so great speed, that he overtook him when he was passing the bridge at 

Sigidunus, and put him to death. By which exploit he confirmed the authority of Maximus. 

Upon this occasion it may not be improper to relate a circumstance which has some 

reference to the present part of my narration. Among the Romans, the persons who had 

the superintendence of sacred things were the Pontifices, whom we may term Gephyraei,  

if we translate the Latin word Pontifices, which signifies bridge-makers, into the Greek. The 

origin of that appellation was this : At a period before mankind were acquainted with the 

mode of worshipping by statues, some images of the gods were first made in Thessaly. As 

there were not then any temples (for the use of them was likewise then unknown), they 

fixed up those figures of the gods on a bridge over the river Peneus, and called those who 

sacrificed to the gods, Gephyraei, Priests of the Bridge, from the place where the images 

were first erected. Hence the Romans, deriving it from the Greeks, called their own priests 

Pontifices, and enacted a law, that kings, for the sake of dignity, should be considered of 

the number. The first of their kings who enjoyed this dignity was Numa Pompilius. After 

him it was conferred not only upon the kings but upon Octavianus and his successors in 

the Roman empire. Upon the elevation of any one to the imperial dignity, the pontifices 

brought him the priestly habit, and he was immediately styled, Pontifex Maximus, or chief 

priest. All former emperors, indeed, appeared gratified with the distinction, and willingly 

adopted the title. Even Constantine himself, when he was emperor, accepted it, although 



he was seduced from the path of rectitude in regard to sacred affairs, and had embraced 

the Christian faith. In like manner did all who succeeded him to Valentinian and Valens. 

But when the Pontifices, in the accustomed manner, brought the sacred robe to Gratian, 

he, considering it a garment unlawful for a Christian to use, rejected their offer. When the 

robe was restored to the priests who brought it, their chief is said to have made this 

observation, If the emperor refuses to become Pontifex, we shall soon make one. 

The reign of Gratian being thus terminated, Maximus, who now considered himself 

firmly fixed in the empire, sent an embassy to the emperor Theodosius, not to intreat 

pardon for his treatment of Gratian, but rather to increase his provocations. The person 

employed in this mission was the imperial chamberlain (for Maximus would not suffer an 

eunuch to preside in his court), a prudent person, with whom he had been familiarly 

acquainted from his infancy. The purport of his mission was to propose to Theodosius a 

treaty of amity, and of alliance, against all enemies who should make war on the Romans, 

and on refusal, to declare against him open hostility. Upon this, Theodosius admitted 

Maximus to a share in the empire, and in the honour of his statues and his imperial title. 

Nevertheless, he was at the same time privately preparing for war, and endeavouring to 

deceive Maximus by every species of flattery and observance. He gave instructions to 

Cynegius, the prefect of his court, whom he bad sent into Egypt in order to prohibit there 

all worship of the gods, and to shut up their temples, that he should shew the statue of 

Maximus to the Alexandrians, and erect it in some public place, declaring to the people, 

that he was associated to himself in the empire. In this Cynegius obeyed his commands, 

closing up the doors of the temples throughout the east, Egypt, and Alexandria, and 

prohibited all their ancient sacrifices and customary observances. As to the calamities 

which the Roman empire suffered from that period, a distinct account of the facts 

themselves will be the best demonstration. 

About this time, a nation of Scythia made its appearance from beyond the Ister, who 

were never before known to the inhabitants of those countries. They are called, by the 

Barbarians in those parts, the Prothyugi. These being very numerous, furnished with arms 

of every description, and remarkably robust, easily overpowered the Barbarians of the 

interior, proceeded as far as the banks of the Ister, and demanded permission to cross that 

river. Promotus, the commander of the forces in that quarter, drew out his troops as far as 

he could extend them along the bank of the river, and hindered the passage of the 

Barbarians. While he was thus employed, he invented a stratagem to this effect. He called 

to him some of his own soldiers, who understood their language, and in whom he could 

confide in affairs of that nature, and sent them to agree with the Barbarians upon betraying 



their own party. These men proposed to the Barbarians to deliver the whole army into their 

hands in consideration of a large reward. The Barbarians replied, that they were not able 

to give so much. However, to induce them to believe their promises, they adhered to their 

original proposals, and would not abate in any part of the reward. At length they agreed to 

the sum, which was in part to be paid immediately, and the remainder at the 

accomplishment of the treason. Having arranged the method of giving the signal, and the 

time for the execution of the project, they communicated to the commander each 

circumstance; that the Barbarians would commence the enterprise in the night, and would 

cross the river to attack the Roman army. 

The Barbarians, therefore, having placed all their best troops on board a great number 

of small vessels, commanded them to cross over first, and to fall on the soldiers while they 

were asleep. Next to these, they sent those of an inferior description to support the former 

when they had commenced the attack; and after them the useless multitude of every age, 

who are ready to boast of victories which others have gained. Promotus having been 

previously informed of all their arrangements, was fully prepared against their designs. He 

therefore ranged his ships in a triple line close together along the side of the river, the 

length of twenty stadia. By this plan he not only prevented the enemy from crossing over, 

but sunk many of them in their vessels. The night being dark and without a moon, the 

Barbarians were unacquainted with the preparations which the Romans had made, and 

therefore embarked with great silence, supposing the Romans to be ignorant of their 

design. When the signal was made, the Romans sailed up to them in large and strong 

ships with firm oars, and sunk all that they met, among which not one man was saved by 

swimming, their arms being very heavy. The vessels which escaped from the Roman 

ships, upon approaching those which lay along shore, were so assaulted with whatever 

was at hand, that they and all on board were lost at the same time, nor were any of them 

able to pass this wall of Roman vessels. 

This produced among them an immense slaughter, greater than had ever occurred in 

any former naval action. Thus the river was filled with dead bodies and with arms. As 

many of them or were able to swim to the bank were destroyed by those who were ranged 

along it. The engagment being ended, the soldiers began to plunder. They carried away all 

the women and children, and acquired possession of all the provisions. Promotus then 

sent for Theodosius, who was not far from thence, to witness his brave exploit. When he 

beheld the number of prisoners, and the quantity of spoil, he gave the captives their liberty, 

and by bestowing gifts upon them, endeavoured to attach them to himself, supposing that 

they would be of service to him in a war against Maximus. 



St Siricius Pope 384-399

A.D.384 CRONICUM SCOTORUM Niall of the Nine Hostages reigned twenty-seven 

years.

384 Prosper of Aquitaine  Maximus was made emperor in Britain in an uprising of the 

soldiery. He soon crossed to gaul. Gratian was defeated at Paris owing to the treason of 

Merobaudes the magister militium, and was captured in flight at Lyon and killed. Maximus 

made his son Victor his colleague in power.

386AD St Jerome Letter XLVI to Marcella 

In speaking thus we do not mean to deny that the kingdom of God is within us, or to say 

that there are no holy men elsewhere; we merely assert in the strongest manner that those 

who stand first throughout the world are here gathered side by side. We ourselves are 

among the last, not the first; yet we have come hither to see the first of all nations. Of all 

the ornaments of the Church our company of monks and virgins is one of the finest; it is 

like a fair flower or a priceless gem. Every man of note in Gaul hastens hither. The Briton, 

“sundered from our world,” no sooner makes progress in religion than he leaves the setting 

sun in quest of a spot of which he knows only through Scripture and common report. Need 

we recall the Armenians, the Persians, the peoples of India and Arabia? Or those of our 

neighbor, Egypt, so rich in monks; of Pontus and Cappadocia; of Cæle-Syria and 

Mesopotamia and the teeming east? In fulfilment of the Saviour’s words, “Wherever the 

body is, thither will the eagles be gathered together,”

Sulpicius Severus How St Martin of Tours acted towards the Emperor Maximus.

AND here to insert some smaller matters among things so great (although such is the 

nature of our times in which all things have fallen into decay and corruption, it is almost a 

pre-eminent virtue for priestly firmness not to have yielded to royal flattery), when a 

number of bishops from various parts had assembled to the Emperor Maximus, a man of 

fierce character, and at that time elated with the victory he had won in the civil wars, and 

when the disgraceful flattery of all around the emperor was generally remarked, while the 

priestly dignity had, with degenerate submissiveness, taken a second place to the royal 

retinue, in Martin alone, apostolic authority continued to assert itself. For even if he had to 

make suit to the sovereign for some things, he commanded rather than entreated him; and 



although often invited, he kept away from his entertainments, saying that he could not take 

a place at the table of one who, out of two emperors, had deprived one of his kingdom, 

and the other of his life. At last, when Maximus maintained that he had not of his own 

accord assumed the sovereignty, but that he had simply defended by arms the necessary 

requirements of the empire, regard to which had been imposed upon him by the soldiers, 

according to the Divine appointment, and that the favor of God did not seem wanting to 

him who, by an event seemingly so incredible, had secured the victory, adding to that the 

statement that none of his adversaries had been slain except in the open field of battle, at 

length, Martin, overcome either by his reasoning or his entreaties, came to the royal 

banquet. The king was wonderfully pleased because he had gained this point. Moreover, 

there were guests present who had been invited as if to a festival; men of the highest and 

most illustrious rank,--the prefect, who was also consul, named Evodius, one of the most 

righteous men that ever lived; two courtiers possessed of the greatest power, the brother 

and uncle of the king, while between these two, the presbyter of Martin had taken his 

place; but he himself occupied a seat which was set quite close to the king. About the 

middle of the banquet, according to custom, one of the servants presented a goblet to the 

king. He orders it rather to be given to the very holy bishop, expecting and hoping that he 

should then receive the cup from his right hand. But Martin, when he had drunk, handed 

the goblet to his own presbyter, as thinking no one worthier to drink next to himself, and 

holding that it would, not be right for him to prefer either the king himself, or those who 

were next the king, to the presbyter. And the emperor, as well as all those who were then 

present, admired this conduct so much, that this very thing, by which they had been 

undervalued, gave them pleasure. The report then ran through the whole palace that 

Martin had done, at the king's dinner, what no bishop had dared to do at the banquets of 

the lowest judges. And Martin predicted to the same Maximus long before, that if he went 

into Italy to which he then desired to go, waging war, against the Emperor Valentinianus, it 

would come to pass that he should know he would indeed be victorious in the first attack, 

but would perish a short time afterwards. And we have seen that this did in fact take place. 

For, on his first arrival Valentinianus had to betake himself to flight but recovering his 

strength about a year afterwards, Maximus was taken and slain by him within the walls of 

Aquileia.

388  King Alfred Book VI Chapter XXXVI

Maximus waited for (Theodosius) with his forces at Aquilegia, and ordered his 

Alderman, Andragatius not to quit the defiles. This alderman however thought he could 



keep possession of them with less force, and that he could himself go east about by sea 

and so steal behind Theodosius. Now when he had deserted the passes, in order to 

embark his army, Theodosius approached the defiles, which were guarded by very 

indifferent troops, who being soon dispersed, he broke into the defiles; after which he went 

over the mountains to Aquilegia where he killed Maximus. When the alderman was 

informed of this disaster, he killed himself. How easily did God thus end that mighty 

contention which Maximus and his alderman had raised in many nations, by the fall of both 

of them.

GILDAS

At length also, new races of tyrants sprang up, in terrific numbers, and the island, still 

bearing its Roman name, but casting off her institutes and laws, sent forth among the 

Gauls that bitter scion of her own planting Maximus, with a great number of followers, and 

the ensigns of royalty, which he bore without decency and without lawful right, but in a 

tyrannical manner, and amid the disturbances of the seditious soldiery.  He, by cunning 

arts rather than by valour, attaching to his rule, by perjury and falsehood, all the 

neighbouring towns and provinces, against the Roman state, extended one of his wings to 

Spain, the other to Italy, fixed the seat of his unholy government at Treves, and so 

furiously pushed his rebellion against his lawful emperors that he drove one of them out of 

Rome, and caused the other to terminate his most holy life.  Trusting to these successful 

attempts, he not long after lost his accursed head before the walls of Aquileia, whereas he 

had before cut off the crowned heads of almost all the world.

After this, Britain is left deprived of all her soldiery and armed bands, of her cruel 

governors, and of the flower of her youth, who went with Maximus, but never again 

returned; and utterly ignorant as she was of the art of war, groaned in amazement for 

many years under the cruelty of two foreign nations—the Scots from the north-west, and 

the Picts from the north.

SBG St Gwythyr.   a son of Maxen Wledig, The Emperor Maximus had a son named 

Victor, on whom he conferred the title of Augustus. Maximus was defeated and beheaded 

at Aquileia in 388, and Victor was put to death shortly after. Gwythur or Gwythyr is the 

form which Victor would assume in Welsh. 

Saint Gurthiern This is the genealogy of Saint Gurthiern, of noble birth, renowned in 

duty, which a certain faithful Laicus, by name of Luthael son of Aidan, has pronounced, not 



for earthly but for heavenly reward:

Thus Gurthiern son of Bon son of Glou son of Abros son of Dos son of Jacob son of 

Genethauc son of Lugdual son of Beli son of Outham Senex son of Maximian son of 

Constantius son of Constantine son of Helen who is said to have possessed the cross of 

Christ. 

This is the genealogy of St Gurthiern on his mother's side: thus, Gurthiern son of Dinoi, 

daughter of Lidinin the king who ruled all of Great Britain. 

Beli and Kenan were two brothers of Outham Senex. That Kenan was ruling when the 

Britons went to Rome (perrexerunt ad Romam). There they held Letavia (Brittany), and the 

rest ... Beli was the son of Anne who is said to have been the cousin of Mary the mother of 

Christ. 

Here begin indeed the deeds (conversatio) of St Gurthiern according to that same 

tradition. 

Gurthiern, when he was a young man, went forth on a certain day with his father to fight 

against his enemies. Gurthiern and his father were victorious that day and Gurthiern killed 

the son of his sister. He did not know, however, that it was his amicus and after he realized 

that this was the son of his sister, he regretted that he had committed such a guilty act and 

lamented. And afterwards he went out into the wasteland and lived in a great valley 

between two mountains in the northern part of Britannia. There he did penance for one 

year, and none lived with him. And there he made himself a small cell, with fresh water 

next to it, and there was a great rock next to the shore of the creek. In that creek he 

immersed himself every day and night. 

When he rose from the creek, he cast himself the rock and prayed. Thus he lived in that 

place for one year. But on a certain day, a certain hunter came to that place and seeing 

the youth sitting and praying without rest on top of the rock, questioned him and said: 

“Why do you live here, [young man]?” And the youth responded : “This is my penance.” 

And he swore to him that he should tell no one that he was in that place. 

And afterwards the hunter left for the house of his father and reported all that he had 

seen, saying that the young man sitting and praying on the rock resembled the son of the 

King. To him the king said, “Let us go to that place, so that we might see that one 

labouring, as you said.” And then they went to that place where the young man lived and 

saw him labouring on the shore and he fled into his cell and lamented. 

His father enquired of him, saying: “O my son, why did you do this? You must come with 

me to my house and take the kingdom of your father.” And he refused this vehemently. 

The father said, “I will [build] you a monastery and [install] many monks.” And [Gurthiern] 

https://mail.google.com/mail/?ui=2&ik=99c6be0256&view=lg&msg=12e76ba992e7bec1#12e76ba992e7bec1__edn4


stayed there for a year and prayed. And an angel of God came to him and said to him, “Go 

to another place which the will of God has foreseen for you" and he set upon the road with 

two servants. They heard the lamentations of a certain woman and they came to her and 

enquired of her, “What has happened to you, woman?” She replied, “O servant of God, I 

had but one son and he was killed in battle.” To her [the saint] said: “Why are you carrying 

his head?” And she replied, “Since I am not capable to carry his body to his monument” 

[The saint] said, “Go before us to his body”, and they went together and saw how the 

matter stood. And Gurthiern said, “Give me his head so that I might join it to his body.” 

Having said a prayer, the man of God blessed [the dead man] and immediately he 

arose again. And he rebuked them: “Why did you lead me out of the good place in which I 

was?” And [the saint] said, “It is better for you to remain here with us and with your 

mother.” [The young man] said, “I do not wish it.” The holy man replied, “Nevertheless 

remain and tell us all those good things which you saw, and I will pray with [or perhaps for] 

you that you will find the way to that place in which you were previously.” And [the young 

man] accepted a blessing from him and remained with his mother. Thence they went to the 

shore of the river which is called the Tamar and there they stayed for a long time. 

And the angel of God came to them saying: “Behold the sea each day, and a vessel will 

come into which you shall enter.” Having set sail, they steered to a certain island and 

stayed in it for a period of time. Afterwards the angel came to them and said, “Go to 

another place which has been promised to you which is called Anaurut”.

St. Gurthiern, then, coming to the place designated to him, stayed there until the end of 

his days, performing portents and miracles before and after [his death].

The angel of the Lord stipulated that in every region of Britannia Minor, each estate of 

St Gurthiern should answer to Anaurut, since that ciuitas was chosen by God. And the 

angel promised victory in war to all kings who should keep the compact with St Gurthiern. 

However, whichever kings or princes should not keep this compact will be cursed by God. 

Thus let all seek salvation from all clerics and laics, bishops and kings, priests and all 

orders keeping the compact of St Gurthiern, so that they might be in unity with the Holy 

Trinity in eternal life. Just as you receive from us salvation, so may you receive that which 

has been entrusted to you by the angel, so that we (and you) may find the mercy of God. 

Thus farewell.

Concerning the finding of the relics of St Gurthiern and other Saints, in the time of 

Benedict the Abbot and Guigon the son of Huelin of the castrum of Hennebont, [the relics] 

revealed on the island of Groix by Oederius the monk. 

These are the relics of Gurthiern, who was king of the English (qui fuit rex Anglorum). 



He, although he held the rule of his native land, preferred the contemplative life over an 

active life; thus he left his patrimony and came in a small skiff came to the island called 

Groix. There he remained and performed many miracles, and here the nobles of Kemenet-

Heboe honoured him. From there his reputation spread even as far as Gradlon Magnus, 

consul of Cornugallia who sent his legate to him to ask [the saint] to come to him, and that 

same consul gave to him Anaurot, where met [the rivers] Ellé and Isole and one thousand 

paces of land in a circuit of that city, and even the plebs of Baye. 

In that time, when com[es] Guerech reigned, a pestilence and famine arose in Broerec, 

namely vermin ate the crops. Because of this, the aforesaid comes sent his messengers, 

namely Guedgal, Catuoth and Cadur, to St Gurthiern [to ask that] he might assist the 

realm. The man of God came quickly and blessed water, sent it through that realm, and 

caused a great multitude of vermin to flee. On this account, comes Guerech gave to him 

the plebs Veneaca upon the River Blavet, which afterwards was called the Kervignac, for 

his generosiy. That holy man stayed there until his death. 

This little charter described above [cartula prescripta] of the genealogy of St Gurthiern, 

found with the revealed relics and showing great age, is kept in the enclosure (peribolo) of 

our renowned monastery. 

These are the names: the relics of St Gurthiern, a part of the head of St Guénolé, relics 

of Paulenan and Symphorian and Tennennan and Guedian and Guenhael and Idunet and 

other relics.

388 Prosper of Aquitaine  

The tyrant Maximus, despoiled of his royal garments by the emperors Valentinian and 

Theodosius at the third milestone from Aquileia, was called forth to judgement and 

condemned to death. In the same year his son Victor was killed by Comes Arbogast in 

Gaul. 

388 Zosimus

While Theodosius was on his march, Maximus, having learnt that the mother of 

Valentinian and her children were to cross the Ionian sea, collected a number of swift-

sailing ships, which he sent under the command of Andragathius to cruize for them. But 

Andragathius, though he sailed about in every direction, failed of his purpose; for they had 

already crossed the Ionian strait. Collecting, therefore, a competent navy, he sailed along 

all the adjacent coasts, in expectation that Theodosius would attack him with his navy. 

While Andragathius was thus employed, Theodosius, having passed through Pannonia 



and the defiles of the Appennines, attacked unawares the forces of Maximus before they 

were prepared for him. A part of his army, having pursued them with the utmost speed, 

forced their way through the gates of Aquileia, the guards being too few to resist them. 

Maximus was torn from his imperial throne while in the act of distributing money to his 

soldiers, and being stripped of his imperial robes, was brought to Theodosius, who, having 

in reproach enumerated some of his crimes against the commonwealth, delivered him to 

the common executioner to receive due punishment. 

Such was the end of Maximus and of his usurpation. Having fraudulently overcome 

Valentinian, he imagined that he should with ease subdue the whole Roman empire. 

Theodosius, having heard, that when Maximus came from beyond the Alps he left his son 

Victor, whom he had dignified with the title of Caesar, he immediately sent for his general, 

named Arbogastes, who deprived the youth both of his dignity and life. When this 

intelligence reached Andragathius, who was then cruising in the Ionian sea, it excited in 

him so great an apprehension of the innumerable dangers to which he was exposed, that 

he did not wait the arrival of his enemies, but became his own executioner. He threw 

himself into the sea, preferring rather to trust to the waves than to men who were his 

greatest enemies. 

393 Zosimus

The emperor Theodosius after these successes proceeded to Rome, where he declared 

his son Honorius emperor, and appointing Stilico to the command of his forces there, left 

him as guardian to his son. 

BEDE

CHAP. X. How, in the reign of Arcadius, Pelagius, a Briton, insolently impugned the 

Grace of God. [395 AD]

In the year of our Lord 394, Arcadius, the son of Theodosius, the forty-third from 

Augustus, succeeding to the empire, with his brother Honorius, held it thirteen years. In his 

time, Pelagius, a Briton, spread far and near the infection of his perfidious doctrine, 

denying the assistance of the Divine grace, being seconded therein by his associate 

Julianus of Campania, who was impelled by an uncontrolled desire to recover his 

bishopric, of which he had been deprived. St . Augustine, and the other orthodox fathers, 

quoted many thousand catholic authorities against them, but failed to amend their folly; 

nay, more, their madness being rebuked was rather increased by contradiction than 

suffered by them to be purified through adherence to the truth; which Prosper, the 



rhetorician, has beautifully expressed thus in heroic" verse :—

"They tell that one, erewhile consumed with gnawing spite, snake-like attacked 

Augustine in his writings. Who urged the wretched viper to raise from the ground his head, 

howsoever hidden in dens of darkness? Either the sea-girt Britons reared him with the fruit 

of their soil, or fed on Campanian pastures his heart swells with pride."

395 Zosimus

Before his departure, he (Theodosius) convened the senate, who firmly adhered to the 

ancient rites and customs of their country, and could not be induced to join with those who 

were inclined to contempt for the gods. In an oration he exhorted them to relinquish their 

former errors, as he termed them, and to embrace the Christian faith, which promises 

absolution from all sins and impieties. But not a single individual of them would be 

persuaded to this, nor recede from the ancient ceremonies, which had been handed down 

to them from the building of their city, and prefer to them an irrational assent; having, as 

they said, lived in the observance of them almost twelve hundred years, in the whole 

space of which their city had never been conquered, and, therefore, should they change 

them for others, they could not foresee what might ensue. Theodosius, therefore, told 

them, that the treasury was too much exhausted by the expense of sacred rites and 

sacrifices, and that he should, therefore, abolish them, since he neither thought them 

commendable, nor could the exigencies of the army spare so much money. The senate in 

reply observed, that the sacrifices were not duly performed, unless the charges were 

defrayed from the public funds. Yet thus the laws for the performance of sacred rites and 

sacrifices were repealed and abolished, besides other institutions and ceremonies, which 

had been received from their ancestors. By these means, the Roman empire, having been 

devastated by degrees, is become the habitation of Barbarians, or rather having lost all its 

inhabitants, is reduced to such a form, that no person can distinguish where its cities 

formerly stood. That affairs were thus brought into so melancholy a state will be evident 

from a particular narrative of them. The emperor Theodosius, having consigned Italy, 

Spain, Celtica, and Libya to his son Honorius, died of a disease on his journey towards 

Constantinople. His body was embalmed, and deposited in the imperial sepulchres of that 

city. 

395 PARTITION OF THE ROMAN EMPIRE.

Honorius Emperor of The West 395-423



395 Zosimus

Thus were affairs situated in that part of the empire which was under the government of 

Arcadius, while Stilico, who was governor of the western empire, gave his daughter by 

Serena in marriage to the emperor Honorius. Serena was the daughter of Honorius, 

brother to Theodosius, the father of the two emperors. Stilico, by this alliance with the 

emperor, strengthened his authority, having likewise almost the whole Roman army under 

his command. For Theodosius having died in Italy after having cut off Eugenius, Stilico 

was commander of the whole army, out of which he selected the strongest and most 

courageous soldiers, whom he retained with himself, sending the most feeble part and the 

refuse of it into the east. After having done this, being much incensed against Rufinus, 

who desired to be invested in the east with power to balance his in the west, he resolved 

to go to Arcadius, wishing to obtain the disposal of all his affairs likewise at his own will 

and pleasure. He asserted, that when Theodosius was on his death-bed, he gave him a 

special charge to take care of the affairs of both emperors. When Rufinus understood this, 

he endeavoured by all the art in his power to prevent the expedition of Stilico into the east, 

and likewise to disperse and weaken the military force of Arcadius. Indeed, while he was 

projecting these schemes, he found men for his purpose more  wicked than he desired, by 

whose aid he occasioned great calamities to the Romans. In what manner I am about to 

relate. 

395 from St Jerome Letter LVII to Paulinus

If heaven and earth must pass away, obviously all things that are earthly must pass 

away also. Therefore the spots which witnessed the crucifixion and the resurrection profit 

those only who bear their several crosses, who day by day rise again with Christ, and who 

thus shew themselves worthy of an abode so holy. Those who say “the temple of the Lord, 

the temple of the Lord,”should give ear to the words of the apostle: “ye are the temple of 

the Lord,”and the Holy Ghost “dwelleth in you.”

Access to the courts of heaven is as easy from Britain as it is from Jerusalem; for “the 

kingdom of God is within you.”Antony and the hosts of monks who are in Egypt, 

Mesopotamia, Pontus, Cappadocia, and Armenia, have never seen Jerusalem: and the 

door of Paradise is opened for them at a distance from it. The blessed Hilarion, though a 

native of and a dweller in Palestine, only set eyes on Jerusalem for a single day, not 

wishing on the one hand when he was so near to neglect the holy places, nor yet on the 

other to appear to confine God within local limits. 



 

SBG St Germanus.  Victricius of Rouen, summoned to the island by his fellow- prelates 

in Britain, had gone thither, and had succeeded in establishing peace. What the 

circumstances were that occasioned this interference, we are not told. 

396 St Jerome. from letter LX to Heliodorus

Moreover before the resurrection of Christ God was known in Judah only and His name 

was great in Israel alone. And they who knew Him were despite their knowledge dragged 

down to hell. Where in those days were the inhabitants of the globe from India to Britain 

from the frozen zone of the north to the burning heat of the Atlantic ocean? Where were 

the countless peoples of the world? Where were the great multidudes? Unlike in tongue, 

unlike in dress and arms? They were crushed like fishes and locusts, like flies and gnats. 

For apart from knowledge of his creator every man is but a brute. But now the voices and 

writings of all nations proclaim the passion and the resurrection of Christ. I say nothing of 

the Jews, the Greeks, and the Romans, peoples which the Lord has dedicated to His faith 

by the title written on His cross.

(Further extract)

The Roman world is falling: yet we hold up our heads instead of bowing them. What 

courage, think you, have the Corinthians now, or the Athenians or the Lacedæmonians or 

the Arcadians, or any of the Greeks over whom the barbarians bear sway? I have 

mentioned only a few cities, but these once the capitals of no mean states. The East, it is 

true, seemed to be safe from all such evils: and if men were panic-stricken here, it was 

only because of bad news from other parts. But lo! in the year just gone by the wolves (no 

longer of Arabia but of the whole North were let loose upon us from the remotest 

fastnesses of Caucasus and in a short time overran these great provinces. What a number 

of monasteries they captured! What many rivers they caused to run red with blood! They 

laid siege to Antioch and invested other cities on the Halys, the Cydnus, the Orontes, and 

the Euphrates. They carried off troops of captives. Arabia, Phenicia, Palestine and Egypt, 

in their terror fancied themselves already enslaved.

397AD St Jerome from Letter LXIX to Oceanus. 

Can it be possible that the stains of marriage are indelible, and that harlotry is judged 

more leniently than honourable wedlock? I do not, Carterius might say, hold you to blame 

for the hosts of mistresses and the troops of favouritesthat you have kept; I do not charge 

you with your bloodshedding and sow-like wallowings in the mire of uncleanness: yet you 

are ready to drag from her grave for my confusion my poor wife, who has been dead long 



years, and whom I married that I might be kept from those sins into which you have fallen. 

Tell this to the heathen who form the church’s harvest with which she stores her granaries; 

tell this to the catechumens who seek admission to the number of the faithful; tell them, I 

say, not to contract marriages before their baptism, not to enter upon honourable wedlock, 

but like the Scots and the Atacotti and the people of Plato’s republic to have community of 

wives and no discrimination of children, nay more, to beware of any semblance even of 

matrimony; lest, after they have come to believe in Christ, He shall tell them that those 

whom they have had have not been concubines or mistresses but wedded wives.

399 St Jerome from Letter LXXVII to Oceanus

The seas carried voyagers to find a welcome here on landing. Travellers left Rome in 

haste to take advantage of the mild coast before setting sail. What Publius once did in the 

island of Malta for one apostle and—not to leave room for gainsaying—for a single ship’s 

crew, Fabiola and Pammachius have done over and over again for large numbers; and not 

only have they supplied the wants of the destitute, but so universal has been their 

munificence that they have provided additional means for those who have something 

already. The whole world knows that a home for strangers has been established at Portus; 

and Britain has learned in the summer what Egypt and Parthia knew in the spring.

399 Claudian (Claudius Claudianus) 

When the rumour concerning this disgrace of the eastern empire was known to be true 

and had impressed belief on Roman ears, Rome's goddess thus spake: "Is Eutropius 

worthy of mine ire? Is such an one fit cause for Roman grief?" So saying the mighty 

goddess winged her way through the heavens and with one stroke of her pinions passed 

beyond the Po and approached the camp of her emperor. 

It happened that even then the august Honorius, assisted by his father-in-law Stilicho, 

was making answer to the Germans who had come of their own accord to sue for peace. 

From his lofty throne he was dictating laws to the Cauci and giving a Constitution to the 

flaxen-haired Suebi. Over these he sets a king, with those he signs a treaty now that 

hostages have been demanded; others he enters on the list as serviceable allies in war, so 

that in future the Sygambrians will cut off their flowing locks and serve beneath our 

banners. Joy and love so fill the goddess' heart that she well nigh weeps, so great is her 

happy pride in her illustrious foster-child. So when a bullock fights in defence of the herd 

his mother lifts her own horns more proudly; so the African lioness gazes with admiration 

on her cub as he grows to be the terror of the farmsteads and the future king of beasts. 

Rome lays aside her veil of cloud and towers above the youthful warrior, then thus begins. 



Examples near at hand testify to the extent of my power now thou art emperor. The 

Saxon is conquered and the seas safe; the Picts have been defeated and Britain is 

secure. I love to see at my feet the humbled Franks and broken Suebi, and I behold the 

Rhine mine own, Germanicus.Yet what am I to do? The discordant East envies our 

prosperity, and beneath that other sky, lo! wickedness flourishes to prevent our empire's 

breathing in harmony with one body. I make no mention of Gildo's treason, detected so 

gloriously in spite of the power of the East on which the rebel Moor relied. For what 

extremes of famine did we not then look? How dire a danger overhung our city, had not thy 

valour or the ever-provident diligence of thy father-in-law supplied corn from the north in 

place of that from the south! Up Tiber's estuary there sailed ships from the Rhine, and the 

Saône's fertile banks made good the lost harvests of Africa. For me the Germans 

ploughed and the Spaniards' oxen sweated; my granaries marvel at Iberian corn, nor did 

my citizens, now satisfied with harvests from beyond the Alps, feel the defection of 

revolted Africa. Gildo, however, paid the penalty for his treason as Tabraca can witness. 

So perish all who take up arms against thee! 

Prudentius (Aurelius Clemens Prudentius

Human nature, unless one is a four footed beast,

with face uplifted to the sky,

cannot deny that a supreme order rules,

Even Numa's diviner felt this in his heart,

as does the half wild Scottus, worse than a war-hound.

St Anastasius 1 Pope 399-401


